Intramuscular immunization of mice with KatA (catalase) generates functional antibodies against *Campylobacter jejuni* invasion of gut epithelial cells *in vitro* 

by

Barbara Ashley <u>Rickaby</u>

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science (MSc) in Biology

The Faculty of Graduate Studies Laurentian University Sudbury, Ontario, Canada

© Barbara Rickaby, 2015

## THESIS DEFENCE COMMITTEE/COMITÉ DE SOUTENANCE DE THÈSE Laurentian Université/Université Laurentienne

Faculty of Graduate Studies/Faculté des études supérieures

Title of Thesis Titre de la thèse Intramuscular immunization of mice with KatA (catalase) generates functional antibodies against C. jejuni invasion of gut epithelial cells in vitro Name of Candidate Nom du candidat Rickaby, Barbara Degree Diplôme Master of Science Department/Program Date of Defence Département/Programme Biology Date de la soutenance January 19, 2015 APPROVED/APPROUVÉ Thesis Examiners/Examinateurs de thèse: Dr. Francisco Diaz-Mitoma (Supervisor/Directeur de thèse)

Dr. Reza Nokhbeh (Committee member/Membre du comité)

Dr. Mazen Saleh (Committee member/Membre du comité)

> Approved for the Faculty of Graduate Studies Approuvé pour la Faculté des études supérieures Dr. David Lesbarrères M. David Lesbarrères Acting Dean, Faculty of Graduate Studies Doyen intérimaire, Faculté des études supérieures

Dr. Dr. Wolfgang Köster (External Examiner/Examinateur externe)

#### ACCESSIBILITY CLAUSE AND PERMISSION TO USE

I, **Barbara Rickaby**, hereby grant to Laurentian University and/or its agents the non-exclusive license to archive and make accessible my thesis, dissertation, or project report in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or for the duration of my copyright ownership. I retain all other ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis, dissertation or project report. I also reserve the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis, dissertation, or project report. I further agree that permission for copying of this thesis in any manner, in whole or in part, for scholarly purposes may be granted by the professor or professors who supervised my thesis work or, in their absence, by the Head of the Department in which my thesis work was done. It is understood that any copying or publication or use of this thesis or parts thereof for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission. It is also understood that this copy is being made available in this form by the authority of the copyright owner solely for the purpose of private study and research and may not be copied or reproduced except as permitted by the copyright laws without written authority from the copyright owner.

### ABSTRACT

The high incidence of *Campylobacter jejuni*-associated diarrhea, increase in the frequency of drug resistance in clinical isolates, and the recent association of *C. jejuni* infections and Guillain-Barré syndrome has heightened the need to develop effective anti-*Campylobacter* vaccines. Due to the risk of auto-immunity, vaccination using inactivated whole-cells or attenuated cells cannot be considered. Subunit vaccines however are a viable alternative and have been shown to be effective against similar pathogens. The main goal of this research is to test efficacy of the catalase A (KatA) protein as vaccine candidate against this pathogen. It was determined that KatA co-fractionates with both the soluble and insoluble cell fractions and a balanced IgG1/IgG2a response could be produced against it following immunization in mice. It was demonstrated that these antibodies can mediate complement-specific bactericidal activity and reduced adhesion and invasion of human epithelial (Caco-2) cells by *C. jejuni* using established *in vitro* assays.

KEYWORDS: Campylobacter jejuni, catalase, KatA, functional antibodies, vaccine,

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to thank Dr. Francisco Diaz-Mitoma for inviting me to join his research team at the Advanced Medical Research Institute (AMRIC) and for having faith in me even when I doubted myself. His enthusiasm and eternal optimism for our research was essential for finishing the project. I would also like to recognize the guidance of Dr. Nelson Eng in helping make the project come to fruition. In addition, Dr. Reza Nokhbeh offered wise advice and helped me see the light at the end of the tunnel. Dr. Nokhbeh as well as Dr. Mazen Saleh provided help as my committee members and assisted with the completion of the project.

I would also like to thank AMRIC lab members Nya Fraleigh and Carly Buckner, for their guidance and instruction in lab techniques and thesis writing. In addition, Misty-Lee Carlson was a tremendous help in all matters administrative. Finally, I would like to thank my parents Doug and Carol for assisting me with my many, many years of post-secondary education which would never have been possible without their support. I dedicate this thesis to them with my love.

Thank you all!

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

Thesis Defence Committee	ii
Abstract	iii
Acknowledgments	iv
Table of Contents	V
List of Tables	vii
List of Figures	viii
List of Appendices	ix
List of Abbreviations	X
1.0 Introduction	13
1.1 Campylobacter jejuni	13
1.1.1 Combating Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)	16
1.1.2 Epithelial Translocation	16
1.2 Acquired Immunity	18
1.2.1 Antigen Recognition	19
1.2.2 Dendritic Cells	23
1.2.3 T helper Cells	25
1.2.4 Plasma Cells	26
1.2.5 Antibody Function	31
1.3 Adjuvants	33
1.4 C. jejuni Vaccine Research	34
1.4.1 Subunit Vaccine Strategies	35
1.5 KatA (Catalase) Protein	37
1.6 Rationale Behind the Project	
1.6.1 Aims	
1.6.1 Hypothesis	39
2.0 Materials and Methodology	40
2.1 C. jejuni Culture Conditions	40
2.2 Bacterial Growth Curve	40
2.3 Determination of Protein Concentration	41
2.4 Particle Size Distribution and Zeta Potential	41

2.5 Campylobacter jejuni Fractionation to Determine KatA Localization	42
2.6 Antigen Purification of KatA Antibodies	42
2.7 Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)	42
2.8 SDS-PAGE	44
2.9 Western Blot	44
2.10 Animals and Immunization	45
2.11 Bactericidal Assay	48
2.12 Campylobacter Adhesion and Invasion Assays	48
2.12.1 Adhesion Assay	49
2.12.2 Invasion Assay	49
2.13 Statistical Analysis	49
3.0 Results	50
3.1 C. jejuni Growth Curve	50
3.2 KatA Antibody Specificity	
3.3 Localization of the KatA Protein	54
3.4 Physiochemical Characterization of KatA	56
3.5 Antigenicity of the KatA Protein	58
3.6 Adjuvant Modulation of KatA-Specific Immune Responses	60
3.7 KatA Antibody Bactericidal Activity	62
3.8 Adhesion and Invasion Assays	64
4.0 Discussion	66
4.1 C. jejuni Observations	66
4.2 KatA Protein Characterization	66
4.3 Cellular Localization of the KatA Protein	67
4.4 Antigenicity of the KatA Protein	69
4.5 Functional Antibody Assessments	71
4.6 Adhesion and Invasion Assays	73
4.7 Conclusion	75
5.0 References	77
Appendix	92

## LIST OF TABLES

<b>Table 1</b> . Mammalian Toll-like receptors, predominant cellular localization, and specificity21
Table 2. Class-switch recombination (CSR); cytokines which direct immunoglobulin isotypes.
<b>Table 3.</b> Mouse Immunization Schedule and Group Formulation

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Helper T-cell dependent activation of B cells in response to protein antigens
Figure 2. The production of high-affinity IgA antibodies against an antigen via a T-cell
dependent activation of B cells
Figure 3. Bacterial growth of C. jejuni strain 11168 in MH media under microaerobic conditions
monitored over 72 hours
Figure 4. Detection of KatA protein via Western blot with high affinity KatA antibodies and
polyclonal IgG serum
Figure 5. KatA is localized both in cytoplasmic and membrane fractions of <i>Campylobacter</i>
<i>jejuni</i> 55
Figure 6. Analysis of physical properties of the KatA protein at ambient temperature57
Figure 7. C. jejuni KatA is immunogenic and immune responses are enhanced with the addition
of adjuvants
<b>Figure 8.</b> The addition of alum or MPL to KatA induces a balanced IgG2a/IgG1 ratio61
Figure 9. Bactericidal activity of KatA antibodies generated following an intramuscular
immunization in mice
Figure 10. The effect of KatA antibodies in preventing the adhesion and invasion of <i>C. jejuni</i> to
human epithelial cells (Caco-2) <i>in vitro</i> 65
<b>Figure A1</b> . Steps of complement activation by the alternative, classical or lectin pathways94

## LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix I: The Complement System	.92
Appendix II: Collaborator Methodologies	.96
Appendix III: Permission to Use Copyrighted Materials	100

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

APC	Antigen presenting cells		
BCR	B cell receptor		
CARD	Caspase-recruitment domain		
CD	Cluster of differentiation		
CDT	Cytolethal distending toxin		
CFU	Colony forming units		
Cia	Campylobacter invasion antigen		
CPS	Capsular polysaccharides		
СТ	Cholera toxin		
CTL	Cytotoxic lymphocytes		
CWC	Campylobacter whole-cell (vaccine)		
DC	Dendritic cell		
DHEA	Dehydroepiandrosterone		
d.nm.	Diameter - nanometers		
DT	Diphtheria toxin		
DTH	Delayed-type hypersensitivity		
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum		
FAE	Follicle-associated epithelium		
GALT	Gut-associated lymphoid tissue		
GB	Gnotobiotic animals		
GBS	Guillain-Barré syndrome		

HAMPS	Host-associated molecular patterns	
hfa	Human flora (gut)	
IBD	Inflammatory bowel disease	
IEC	Intestinal epithelial cells	
IEP	Isoelectric point	
IL	Interleukin	
ISCOM	Immune stimulating complex	
Ig	Immunoglobulin	
KatA	Catalase (C. jejuni)	
LOS	Lipooligosaccharide	
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide	
LRR	Leucine rich repeat	
LT	Heat-labile enterotoxin	
М	Microfold cell	
mAb	Monoclonal antibodies	
MAC	Membrane attack complex	
MALT	Mucosal-associated lymphoid tissue	
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase	
MASP	Mannan-binding lectin-associated serine protease	
MBL	Mannose-binding lectin	
MBP	Maltose-binding protein	
Mbp	Megabase pair	
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex	

MPL	Monophosphoryl lipid A	
mV	Milli-volts	
MWD	Molecular weight distributions	
NF	Nuclear factor	
NK	Natural killer (cell)	
NLR	Nod-like receptor	
OD	Optical density	
O <sub>2</sub>	Oxygen	
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns	
PML	Polymorphonuclear leukocytes	
PRR	Pathogen recognition receptor	
PSD	Particle size distribution	
PYD	Pyrin domain	
ROS	Reactive oxygen species	
T3SS	Type III secretion system	
TCR	T cell receptor	
Th	T helper cell	
TGF	Transforming growth factor	
TIR	Toll/IL-1 receptor	
TLR	Toll-like receptor	
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor	
V	Variable (antibody structure)	

#### **1.0 INTRODUCTION**

### 1.1 Campylobacter jejuni

Diarrhoeal disease alone claims a toll of 5 million children per year (1). Consequently, there is a tremendous need for vaccines to combat the enteric pathogens causing these illnesses. Common pathogens that cause infections in the gastrointestinal tract include *Vibrio cholerae*, *Helicobacter pylori*, *Campylobacter jejuni*, *Salmonella spp.*, *Clostridium difficile* and enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli* (2). All of these infections continue to represent a challenge for the development of vaccines that can either prevent the pathogen from colonizing, or penetrating the mucosal epithelium, and/or blocking the binding of microbial toxins or neutralizing them (2).

*Campylobacter jejuni* is the most frequently reported causative agent of bacterial gastroenteritis in humans. *Campylobacter jejuni* cells are spirally curved Gram-negative rods with tapering ends. They possess a flagellum at one, or both, ends thus possessing a high degree of motility (3). They have a small genome of approximately 1.6-1.7 megabase pairs (Mbp) of AT-rich DNA (70%) (4). Infection occurs most often as a result of contact with poultry and through consumption of contaminated meat products, notably poultry (5; 6), pork (7), and beef (8), as *Campylobacter* species exist as a commensal flora in many domestic animals (9). In addition, the consumption of contaminated drinking water (10) and raw milk (11) have also been linked to large outbreaks of campylobacteriosis. Infected individuals often present with a broad range of symptoms including abdominal pain, bloody diarrhea, and fever while a histological examination of intestinal tissues reveals crypt abscesses, ulcerations, and elevated numbers of immune cells in the colon (12). Bacteraemia is detected in less than 1% of patients with *Campylobacter* enteritis, and occurs most often in patients with a severely compromised immune system (13; 14; 15). Although the vast majority of infections are self-limiting, post-infectious complications include inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) (16), reactive arthritis (17), Miller-Fisher-Syndrome (18) and Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS) (19). *Campylobacter jejuni* is also reported to be the second most common bacterial cause of traveler's diarrhea, after *Vibrio cholerae*, among visitors in endemic regions (20; 21) and is thought to be one of the leading causes of mortality for young children in the developing world (22). An estimated 2-10 million cases of campylobacteriosis occur each year in the United States (23). The total annual costs from infection, calculated from both medical and productivity loses, is thought to be up to 8 billion US dollars annually (24). Campylobacteriosis is often treated with antibiotics and shortens the duration of diarrheal disease experienced by a mean of 1.3 days (25). Considerable antibiotic resistance has developed over the past decade, as a consequence to this over usage, to both fluoroquinolones (26) and macrolides (27) further necessitating the development of a prophylactic treatment.

The development of a *Campylobacter* vaccine has been impeded by a fundamental safety concern due to the association of Campylobacteriosis with GBS. GBS is a neurologic disease characterized by ascending paralysis that can lead to respiratory muscle compromise and death (19). It is the most common cause of acute neuromuscular paralysis in the developed world (19). The US centers for Disease Control and Prevention have estimated the incidence of *C. jejuni* infection to be 1000 cases for every 100,000 individuals in the population per year (28). It has also been estimated that 1 of every 1058 cases of *C. jejuni* infection are followed by GBS although the risk of developing GBS is increased if the patient was colonized by strain O:19 (19). *Campylobacter jejuni* lipopolysaccharides (LPS) and lipooligosaccharide (LOS) have been reported to be the causative triggers for GBS, as they resemble human gangliosides, and infection can trigger the generation of antibodies that attack the gangliosides on the myelin

sheath (29). Immunoglobulin G (IgG) antibodies to GQ1b and GT1a gangliosides are found in more than 90% of patients with this acute demyelinating disease (21). This finding has provided evidence to implicate these antibodies for damaging motor-nerve terminals in afflicted individuals (21). Because of this association, there are serious regulatory concerns regarding *C*. *jejuni* vaccine candidates (29). Researchers are now searching for novel antigens to replace a whole-cell vaccine strategy.

The high prevalence of campylobacteriosis poses a significant health burden and validates the need for a vaccine against this pathogen. The current lack of understanding of Campylobacter *jejuni*'s pathogenesis is largely due to the absence of a suitable animal model to represent human infection (30; 31). The animal model most frequently used to study human pathogens is the mouse, but murine models of C. *jejuni* infection have the disadvantages of sporadic colonization, the absence of clinical signs of disease, and a lack of intestinal immunopathology (30). This phenomenon is due in part to the colonization resistance exhibited by adult mice (older than 2 months) with a normal intestinal microflora (30). The colonization resistance against Campylobacter can be diminished by the administration of a quintuple antibiotic treatment (ampicillin, vancomycin, ciprofloxacin, imipenem and metronidazole) to generate gnotobiotic (GB) animals (32). These animals can be subsequently populated with typical human flora (hfa) while both GB, and hfa animals, display the characteristic inflammatory responses seen in human campylobacteriosis (33). Other models, using ferrets (34) or rhesus monkeys (35; 36), are believed to accurately mimic the human course of disease. Their applications, however, are limited by practicality as housing these species requires specialized personal and an extensive animal care facility (31). Other studies have utilized chickens (37; 38), a natural host of C. jejuni, although the generalizability to human campylobacteriosis is not well established (31).

#### **1.1.1** Combating Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS)

*Campylobacter jejuni* is a microaerophilic bacterium and is damaged by the normal atmospheric level of oxygen ( $O_2$ ) and requires  $O_2$  in the range of (2-10%) for optimal growth (39). During aerobic metabolism, *Campylobacter* is exposed to several reactive oxygen species (ROS) including superoxide radicals ( $O_2^{-1}$ ), hydroxyl radicals ('OH), and hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ) generated during the reduction of molecular oxygen (40). ROS species damage DNA and cause the peroxidation of lipids (40; 41). *Campylobacter jejuni* is also exposed to ROS produced by the host immune system, primarily by polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMLs), whose oxidative burst is cytotoxic for bacteria (41). *C. jejuni*, however, possess a number of proteins and enzymes that are thought to protect it against the damaging effects of oxidative stress (42). The roles of SodB (superoxide dismutase), KatA (catalase), AhpC (alkylhydroxyperoxidase), Cft (ferritin), and FdxA (ferredoxin) in oxidative stress defense mechanisms have been partially characterized (43). In *C. jejuni*, the oxidative stress defense mechanisms are regulated by the peroxide-sensing regulator Per-R (44).

#### 1.1.2 Epithelial Translocation

In an immunologically naive host, *C. jejuni* colonizes the mucous linings of the small and large intestines. The flagellum is composed of two closely related proteins FlaA and FlaB. This flagellum, combined with the spiral shape of the bacterium, confers the advanced motility that allows *Campylobacter* to burrow deep into the mucous (45). Because of this remarkable adaptation, it had once been speculated that adhesion to the host epithelia was not necessary and the bacterium remained in the intestine by colonizing the mucous (46). More recently, several adhesion proteins have been identified, notably CadF and FlpA, that permit binding to the

extracellular matrix by attaching to fibronectin (47; 48). In response to the host environment, *C. jejuni* begins the synthesis of *Campylobacter*-invasion antigens (Cia), which are exported from the bacterium's flagellar type III secretion system (T3SS), to facilitated host invasion (49). Internalization of the bacteria requires host cell signalling as well as rearrangement of the host cell cytoskeleton (50; 51). There is evidence these bacteria may also cross the epithelia via a paracellular route through tight junctions (3). Intracellular *C. jejuni* are able to induce the loosening of connections between adjoining epithelial cells thus facilitating the translocating across the enterocytes of the intestinal barrier (52).

It has been suggested that *Campylobacter sp.* preferentially associate with the microfold (M) cells, to facilitate their invasion (53). M cells are a component of the mucosal-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT), located in follicle-associated epithelium (FAE), and are designed for the sampling and inward transportation of luminal material (54). The host response to infection includes the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines that are dependent on nuclear factor  $\kappa\beta$  (NF- $\kappa\beta$ ) and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signalling pathways resulting in the recruitment of neutrophils and macrophages to site of infection (55; 56). The resulting inflammation exacerbates local tissue damage resulting in a loss of epithelial integrity. The compromised tissue leaks fluid containing blood, proteins, and inflammatory cells into the lumen generating the characteristic bloodied diarrhea (45).

The immune cells within the intestinal mucosa, such as dendritic cells (DCs) and other phacocytes, provide the primary defense against *C. jejuni*. DCs play an important role in attracting moncytes, macrophages, natural killer (NK) cells, and especially T cells during the initial stages of infection (57). PMLs, predominantly neutrophils, infiltrate the intestinal epithelia and readily phagocytise complement-opsonized *C. jejuni* and kill them efficiently following a

ROS burst (3). In contrast to phagocytosis by PMLs, opsonisation by antibody or complement is not required for efficient uptake by macrophages (58). After host invasion, *C. jejuni* appear to be largely confined to membrane-bound vacuoles but have also been observed in the cytoplasm *in vivo* (59). The bacteria have been observed to quickly invade Hep-2 (originating from human laryngeal epidermoid carcinoma) and INT407 cells (human embryonic intestinal cell line) after a 1-2 hour exposure *in vitro* (60). At this early stage, Konkel *et al.* (1991) observed no lysosomal host response and the bacteria still possessed spiral morphologies. At later stages, a strong lysosomal response was evident and lysosomes, containing endosomes, surrounded the bacteria. By this point of invasion, the bacteria have generally changed from their spiral morphology into a coccal form (61). In an *in vivo* invasion, there is a reduction in the number of viable bacteria after the first 6 hours with few viable cells remaining by 36 hours (61). There is little evidence for intracellular multiplication of *C. jejuni* although vacuoles containing multiple bacteria have been observed within INT407 cells (60).

## **1.2 Acquired Immunity**

The primary principle of vaccination is to administer a killed or attenuated form of a pathogen, that does not itself cause disease, that will instruct the body how to produce an effective immune response for when the pathogen is encountered again (62). Long-term protection requires the persistence of antibodies induced by the vaccine and the generation of immune memory cells capable of a rapid, and productive, reactivation (63). The first exposure to an antigen, either by infection or vaccination, leads to the activation of naive B lymphocytes and their subsequent differentiation into antibody-secreting plasma cells and memory cells. A secondary immune response is elicited when the same antigen stimulates these memory cells leading to a more rapid

proliferation and differentiation and the production of a greater quantity of specific antibodies then produced in the primary response (62).

Most prophylactic vaccines work by stimulating the production of high-affinity neutralizing antibodies (64). Therefore, effective vaccines against microorganisms must induce memory B cell formation and these events occur primarily through the activation T helper cells. Other antigen-specific T cells, including cytotoxic T cells, perform important effector functions, such as the targeted removal of host cells infected by intracellular pathogens and provide support for macrophages in their removal of extracellular pathogens (65). Whole-cell killed or live-attenuated bacterial vaccines are often the first formulation considered as they elicit both the innate and adaptive immune responses as the true pathogen would (66). These vaccines, however, may not always be safe to use depending on the pathogen and the target population. Before examining current developments in *C. jejuni* vaccines, the mechanisms in the development of protective immunity will be reviewed.

#### **1.2.1** Antigen Recognition

The innate immune system recognizes molecular structures that are characteristic specific to microbes. These elements are referred to as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) and are expressed differentially by different classes of microbes (e.g. Gram-negative bacteria, Gram-positive bacteria, viruses, fungi). Most host cell phenotypes express pathogen-recognition receptors (PRRs) constitutively although phagocytes and DCs contain the most numerous and diverse receptors (67). Toll-like receptors (TLRs) are integral membrane glycoproteins capable of recognizing a variety of microbial PAMPS. The cytoplasmic portion of the TLR is similar to that of interleukin (IL-1) receptor family, referred to as Toll/IL-receptor (TIR), and is responsible

for the initiation of intracellular signalling (68). TLRs contain leucine-rich repeats (LRRs) in the extracellular domain capable of recognizing PAMPS (69). The successful activation of TLRs by microbes initiates signal transduction pathways which induces dendritic cell maturation and cytokine production (67). After ligand binding, TLRs dimerize and undergo a conformational change permitting the recruitment of a TIR-domain-containing adaptor molecule. To date, the TLR family consists of 13 members; 9 of which are functional in humans (Table 1) (67). TLRs expressed on the plasma membrane can recognize PAMPs in the extracellular environment. They may also be expressed internally on the endosomal membrane and detect the features of prokaryotic DNA and RNA. *C. jejuni* primarily activates TLR2 and TLR4 while TLR4 signalling is responsible for most of the inflammatory changes seen during infection (70; 71). In contrast, TLR2 signalling has a protective role and acts to promote mucosal integrity (72).

Bacteria and fungi are sometimes able to exploit the TLR system to evade host immune responses. Certain pathogens have modified forms of the normal TLR ligands, such as flagellin from *H. pylori* and *C. jejuni*, that TLR5 cannot recognize (73). Many individuals infected with *C. jejuni* are asymptomatic carriers (74; 75) and TLR5 evasion may be critical for establishing this carrier state which facilitates the persistence of the bacteria within human populations (73).

In addition to the membrane-bound TLRs described above, two major classes of PRRs are found in the cytoplasm. The first, NOD-like receptors (NLRs) are a family of over 20 different cytosolic proteins which bind PAMPs and recruit additional proteins to form signalling complexes and promote inflammation. NLRs, like TLRs, contain three domains: (1) a LRR domain involved in ligand recognition; (2) a central NOD domain acting as an ATP-dependent dimerization domain (NACHT); and (3) an N-terminal caspase recruitment effector domain (76).

Toll-like	Location	Specificity
receptor (TLR)		
1	Cell membrane	Bacterial lipopeptides
2	Cell membrane	Bacterial lipopeptides and peptidoglycan
3	Endosome	dsRNA
4	Cell membrane	Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)
5	Cell membrane	Bacterial flagellin
6	Cell membrane	Bacterial lipopeptides
7	Endosome	ssRNA
8	Endosome	ssRNA
9	Endosome	CpG DNA

Table 1. Mammalian Toll-like receptors, predominant cellular localization, and specificity.

Adapted from Uematsu & Akira (2006) (68).

There are three NLR subfamilies categorized by the effector domain utilized to initiate signalling. The caspase-recruitment domain (CARD) subfamily has two members: NOD1 and NOD2 which respond to bacterial cell wall peptidoglycans. NOD1 recognizes PAMPs derived from Gram-negative bacteria while NOD2 recognizes muramyl dipeptide found in both Gramnegative and Gram-positive bacteria (77). These peptides may arrive in the cytoplasm of the host cell most often released from intracellular bacteria. They may also be transported into the cell from an extracellular pathogen via type III and type IV bacteria secretion systems (62). These secretion systems are found in Gram-negative bacteria, such as Salmonella and C. jejuni, encoded within pathogenicity islands (78; 79). Consequently, NLR detection can occur by nonphagocytising cells such as epithelial cells. When a peptide binds the CARD effector domain, a conformational change occurs facilitating the formation of the NOD signalasome and subsequent activation of the transcription of inflammatory cytokines and chemokines important for the stimulation and recruitment of additional effector cells (78). NOD1 and NOD2 are important in the defense against bacterial pathogens in the gastrointestinal tract such as C.jejuni and H. pylori. The second subfamily contains 14 known members with a Pyrin effector domain (PYD), which is activated by the presence of microbial products such as flagellin, muramyl dipeptide, LPS and crystalline substances, such as aluminum hydroxide (62). Activation results in the assembly of the inflammasome complex that binds and activates the enzyme caspase-1 (80). Caspases are cysteine proteases that initiate cellular programs leading to inflammation (pro-inflammatory) or cell death (pro-apoptotic) (81). Caspase-1 cleaves and activates IL-1β, an important proinflammatory mediator produced at sites of tissue injury to recruit other immune cells. (82).

#### 1.2.2 Dendritic Cells

Dendritic cells have been described as professional antigen-presenting cells and are the primary source of antigen transport into the lymphatic system (83). Dendritic cells are strategically located at the common sites of entry of microbes to the epithelia of the skin, gastrointestinal, and respiratory tracts, and in lymphoid organs and provide the primary defense against enteropathogens (57). In addition, they link the innate and adaptive immune responses to microbial pathogens by producing, and responding to, inflammatory cytokines (84). Dendritic cells are key initiators of adaptive immunity and are distributed throughout the body in their immature form (85). They actively sample the environment in peripheral tissues by endocytosis and macropinocytosis (86). Immature DCs are highly phagocytic, and upon encountering a PAMP, undergo a process of maturation resulting in the increased expression of major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules (87), costimulators (88), Th polarising cytokines (89), and migration to the lymph nodes to prime naive T-cells (90).

DCs express high numbers of pathogen-recognition receptors (PRRs) and most members of the TLR family to facilitate pathogen recognition. Bacteria encountered are internalized, by receptor mediated endocytosis, into phagosomes. The phagosome will undergo maturation and fuse with both endosomes and lysosomes. These vesicular interactions deliver host molecules with antimicrobial properties including generators of toxic reactive oxygen species (discussed later), proteases, thiol reductases and proton pumps (91). The resulting peptides from the protease digestion associate with MHC-II molecules present within the phagosome (92). External signals direct the DC to regional draining lymph nodes and initiates antigen processing and presentation (93).

Dendritic cells activated by *C. jejuni* express high levels of MHC molecules with bound peptide and upregulate co-stimulatory molecules such as cluster of differentiation (CD) CD40, CD80, and CD86 (94). The *C. jejuni* infection of DCs initiates expression of NF- $\kappa$ B leading to production of IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12, interferon (IFN) gamma and tumour necrosis factor (TNF) alpha (95). In addition, DCs begin expressing a chemokine receptor CCR7 specific for two chemokines (CCL19 and CCL21) allowing for migration to the T cell zones of lymph nodes (90). Naive T cells also express CCR7 and migrate to the same regions of the lymph nodes antigen bearing DCs are concentrated. The recognition of MHC class II by the T cell receptor (TCR), along with adequate co-stimulation, results in the clonal expansion and differentiation of naive CD4+ T cells into an effector subtype of helper T cells (Th) (96). The Th cells that have been activated are induced to proliferate, express the CD40 ligand, secrete cytokines, and migrate towards B-cells in the follicle (62).

Most antigens from tissue sites are transported to lymph nodes by afferent lymphatic vesicles that drain into the subscapular sinus of the nodes. Soluble antigens (smaller than 70 kDa) may reach the B cell zone through conduits that extend throughout the follicle and interact directly with B cells (62). Large antigens may be captured by macrophages, in the subscapular sinus, or by dendritic cells, in the medullary region, that actively filter particulate antigen (97). The antigen is then transported into follicles where it can activate B cells. In all cases, the antigen presented has not been processed by antigen presenting cells (APCs) and in an intact, naive conformation (62). B cell activation is initiated when an antigen binds the B cell receptor (BCR). Although protein antigens, being monovalent, typically do not provide strong enough signals to induce B cell proliferation and differentiation, they can activate B cells and initiate a number of events. Activation of the BCR by antigen initiates coordinated assembly of the signalosome and

triggers a variety of cellular response including modifications to gene expression, reorganization of the cytoskeleton, and internalization of the antigen (98). Following antigen endocytosis, it is processed inside endosomes and presented in complex with a MHC class II molecule (99). This peptide is then presented by the B cell to a helper T cell activated when recognized an identical peptide presented by a dendritic cell (Fig. 1).

#### **1.2.3** T helper cells

The CD40 receptor is constitutively expressed on B cells and is crucial for the initiation of antibody class switching. The CD40 ligand is upregulated on activated T cells and recognizes the CD40 receptor and provides a signal necessary for B cell survival (100). This binding induces a conformational change initiating an enzyme cascade which terminates with the activation of transcription factors which stimulate B cell proliferation and increase secretion of IgG (101). In addition to CD40L on Th cells activating B cells, Th cells also secrete cytokines that contribute to B cell responses and control the class of antibody produced. This process is referred to as isotype switching and provides B cells with the capacity to produce antibodies that perform distinct effector functions in the defence against various infectious agents.

INF- $\gamma$  is the main inducer of the production of IgG2a, an essential opsonin and effective activator of complement mediated lysis (102). Viruses and many bacteria activate the Th1 subtype and initiate responses resulting in the enhancement of several cytotoxic mechanisms. Th1 cells produce the cytokine IFN- $\gamma$  which promotes the activation of macrophage and results in increased killing of intracellular pathogens (103). This occurs through increased expression of macrophage receptors for IgG2a and antibody-dependent phagocytosis (102). IFN- $\gamma$  is also believed to be a major component of delayed type hypersensitivity reactions (DTH) (104). IFN- $\gamma$  initiates the inflammatory reaction by attracting T cells which secrete cytokines to recruit monocytes and granulocytes to the site of infection (104).

The IL-4 cytokine is produced by Th2 and leads to the production of high antibody IgG1 levels and IgE antibodies. In addition, Th2 cells produce IL-3, an activator of mucosal mast cell proliferation (102), and IL-5 a stimulator of eosinophils (105). Consequently, Th2 activation can lead to the activation of allergic responses which is considered an adverse event following vaccination. Th1 and Th2 cells have been found to cross-regulate each other with respect to IgG and IgE production (103); Th2 cytokines (IL-4 and IL-10) have been shown to inhibit proinflammatory cytokines from macrophages (IL-1 and INF- $\gamma$ ) while IFN- $\gamma$  enhances macrophage activation (106). Th17 cells produce the cytokine IL-17 which can induce neutrophil rich inflammation.

Several theories are believed to influence the Th1/Th2 phenotype generated. The PAMP hypothesis postulates that interaction of host PRRs with PAMPs is the most important factor (85). A second hypothesis, referred to as the cytokine milieu, proposes that the cytokines secreted by activated T-cells in microenvironment promote differentiation of Th cells (85). During the course of an actual *C. jejuni* infection, dendritic cells generate a cytokine milieu that promotes the expansion of Th1, Th17 and the Th1/Th17 double-positive T cells (107). This occurrence reflects the importance of the production IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-22, and IL-17 in enabling functional immune responses against *C. jejuni* infection (107).

#### 1.2.4 Plasma Cells

Some of the progeny of the B cells that proliferate in response to antigen and T cell simulation will become antibody-secreting plasma cells. Long-lived plasma cells are generated in T-

dependant germinal center responses (Fig. 1). This process is dependent on the initiation of high levels of Blimp-1 and interferon regulatory factor 4 (IRF4) (108). T cells secrete the cytokines that promote Blimp-1 expression, including IL-2, IL-6, and IL-21, through activation of the STAT3 transcription factor (109). The plasma cells, generated in the germinal centers, acquire the ability to travel to the bone marrow or local mucosa-associated lymphoid tissues (MALT) through the expression of CXCR4 (110). A proportion of plasma cells will remain in the spleen, initially in close association with mature DCs and later dispersing into red pulp (100). The stromal cells in the bone marrow, and the DCs in the spleen, secrete two related cytokines, BAFF and APRIL (111). The binding of these cytokines to the plasma cell receptors allows the cell to survive for long periods, often as long as the lifespan of the host. Memory B cells also express the antiapoptotic protein Bcl-2 which contributes to the long lifespan of these cells (112). The bone marrow becomes the major site of antibody production approximately 2-3 weeks after encountering a T-cell dependent antigen (113). Plasma cells may continue to secrete antibodies for months or even years after the antigen is no longer present (113). These antibodies can provide immediate protection if the antigen is encountered again. It is estimated that almost half the antibody in the blood of a healthy adult is produced by long-lived plasma cells and is specific for antigens encountered in the past (62). The ability of antibodies to neutralize pathogens is dependent on high-affinity and high-avidity interactions. Antibodies are highly specific for antigens can distinguish between two linear protein determinants differing by only a single amino acid substitution (62). The B cells in the repertoire that express the most specific antigen receptors are primed for proliferation. Continued antigen exposure drives rounds of B cell receptor diversification, selection, and proliferation until receptors reach high affinity (known as



**Figure 1**. Helper T cell dependent activation of B cells in response to protein antigens. Adapted from Abbas, Lichtman, and Pillai, (2012) (62).

affinity maturation) (114). The result of this process is that B cells producing higher affinity antibodies are preferentially selected and become the dominant cells in the population (114).

Antibodies are large molecules, consisting of paired heavy and light polypeptide chains. These form a variable (V) antigen-binding region (known as V<sub>H</sub> and V<sub>L</sub> for the heavy and light chains respectively), as well as a constant (C) region (115). Antibodies are classified as isotypes, depending the type of heavy chain they possess, as either IgA, IgG1-IgG4, IgD, IgE or IgM. Each isotype has a unique capacity to reach different sites of infection and to recruit different effector mechanisms (65). CD4+ activated T cells in lymphoid tissue release cytokines which drive the class switch and differentiation of B cells (116). Although this is a very complex and dynamic process, the cytokines identified to direct isotype switching are listed in Table 2 (below).

IgG is the principal isotype in blood and extracellular fluid (117). IgG opsonises pathogens to facilitate engulfment by phagocytes and activates the complement system (discussed below). In contrast, IgA is a less potent opsonin and a weak activator of complement. IgA is the major isotype in mucosal secretions and functions on epithelial surfaces where complement are phagocytes are absent. Therefore, the function of IgA is thought to be as a neutralizing antibody (118).

Ig Isotype	Dominant cytokine
IgA	TGF- β (119; 120)
IgG1	IL-4 (121; 122)
IgG2a	IFN- γ (121)
IgE	IL-4 (122)

**Table 2**. Class-Switch Recombination (CSR); cytokines which direct immunoglobulin isotypes.

#### **1.2.5** Antibody Function

The main function of antibodies is to neutralize and eliminate infectious microbes and microbial toxins. Antibodies produced in the lymph nodes, spleen, and bone marrow may enter the blood and circulate throughout the body. Humoral immunity in the gut is dominated by the production of secretory IgA (sIgA) and sIgM in the gut-associated lymphoid tissues (GALT) (1).

There may be some contribution from serum-derived or locally produced monomeric IgA and IgG which can reach the mucosal surface rapidly by paracellular diffusion through the epithelium (123) and transported across the mucosal epithelium into the lumen (Fig. 2). Activated B cells that undergo isotype switching into IgA producing cells in the gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT) and mesenteric lymph node become resident plasma cells in the lamina propria. The sIgA antibodies secreted on to the mucosal surfaces in the intestine are essential for preventing bacterial infection by binding and neutralizing microbes (124). These antibodies are thought to inhibit adhesive reactions by interfering with the ability of the microbes to interact with cellular receptors by causing steric hindrance. In some cases allosteric effects may occur from the binding of even very few antibodies. Alternatively, their binding may induce a conformational change in microbial surface molecules preventing interactions with cellular receptors (62).



**Figure 2**. The production of high-affinity IgA antibodies against an antigen via a T cell dependent activation of B cells. The resulting secretion of high-affinity IgA can result in the neutralization of enteric pathogens. Adapted from Abbas, Lichtman and Pillai (2012) (62).

#### 1.3 Adjuvants

Adjuvants are substances that can improve an antigen-induced immune response by protecting the antigen, modulating cytokine release, activating CD8+ cytotoxic lymphocytes (CTLs) responses, or delivering the antigen to target tissue (125). Purified antigens are not usually strongly immunogenic and most acellular vaccines require the addition of an adjuvant in order to be effective (126). They enhance vaccine effectiveness by stimulating the innate immune responses at the sites of antigen exposure. Many adjuvants in experimental use are microbial products, such as killed bacteria and LPS, which can engage cellular TLRs.

Dendritic cells are principle mediators of responses to TLR agonists (127) and activation stimulates the migration of DCs to lymph nodes where T cells are located. Adjuvants are highly effective immune stimulators and as a result can cause damaging amounts of localized inflammation. As a consequence, a tremendous amount of effort has been devoted to the development of safe and effective vaccine adjuvants in humans (128). LPS is a component of the cell wall of Gram-negative bacteria and it is a potent adjuvant and TLR4 activator (129). LPS, however, is too toxic for clinical applications as even the injection of a small amount of LPS can cause systemic inflammation (130). A derivative of LPS, monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL) has been shown to retain the immunostimulating capacity but with decreased toxicity (127). This adjuvant, a derivative from Salmonella minnesota, is widely used experimentally and has been also tested in human clinical trials (131). Alum, composed of aluminum salts, remains the gold standard vaccine adjuvant as has been used for over 80 years due to its role in clinical applications. Aluminum is thought to enhance the mucosal immune response by localizing antigenic material in the interstitial fluid and extending the duration of antigen presentation to immune cells (127). A deposit is formed at the site of injection causing localized tissue damage

and increasing recruitment of APCs and antigen phagocytosis (132). In addition, alum taken up by macrophages has been shown to increase the duration of their survival (133). Alum signals through NLR NOD-2 and, as a result, is an effective inducer of humoral immunity and Th2biased CD4+ T cell responses (134). Other experimentally used adjuvants include lipopolysaccharide-polyribonucleotide complexes, imiquimod, muramyl dipeptide and analogues, nonionic block copolymers, saponin immune stimulating complexes (ISCOMS), the oral mucosal adjuvant cholera enterotoxin (CT), and dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) (135).

#### 1.4 Campylobacter jejuni Vaccine Research

At present, there is no commercial vaccine available against C. jejuni although some benefit from whole-cell vaccines has been established. Infection of adult volunteers with live C. jejuni milk-borne strain 81-176 by Black et al. (1988) demonstrated the development of jejunal fluid sIgA decreased the likelihood of illness at secondary exposure (136). A second clinical challenge study was recently published by Tribble et al. (2010) (27) vaccinating people with the same strain. The rates of systemic and mucosal response were comparable to rates observed after a natural exposure to the pathogen (137). Individuals were challenged one-year later and demonstrated a greater magnitude of IgA and IgM serological responses, and more rapid anamnestic fecal IgA, than naive participants. Before the study began, the LOS of the strain was characterized to determine if molecular mimicry was possible and initial results came back negative (138). Unfortunately, following the study a genetic analysis of the LOS core revealed that mimicry was in fact possible (139). It was determined that the vaccination had in fact posed a risk to the participants although no incidents of GBS were reported (139). A new strain of C. *jejuni* CG8421 has recently been identified and does not possess a risk of GBS for humans (140). Healthy adult volunteers were challenged with this live strain, by Kirkpatrick et al. (2013), and were rechallenged after three months (141). Immune responses were the most robust following the first exposure where seroconversion, a minimum four-fold increase in antibodies, was present in 67% of participants. IgA levels returned to baseline within three months and neither IgA or IgG achieved seroconversion at rechallenge. A two-fold or greater increase in IFN- $\gamma$  was observed following the first challenge with levels falling close to baseline by three months. Unfortunately, participants experienced diarrheal disease clinically similar from that of the primary infection following the rechallenge. The lack of immunity provides further evidence that long-lived protection is unlikely after a single exposure to live whole-cell *C. jejuni*.

### 1.4.1 Subunit Vaccine Strategies

Although attenuated vaccines elicit long-lasting immunity, safety issues including the administration of potentially harmful bacterial components, and the potential for replication or reversion to a pathogenic form, are of concern as vaccines are normally administered to healthy individuals (142). In the case of *C. jejuni*, the risks of eliciting an auto-immune response prohibit a whole cell vaccination strategy. For this reason, the use of a subunit vaccine approach is often warranted in which only the microbial components required to produce an appropriate immune response are administered. Although subunit vaccines have many desirable qualities, their ability to stimulate potent immune responses is much weaker than traditional whole-cell preparations (143).

Recent work involving conjugate vaccines has been published combining capsular polysaccharides (CPS) from *C. jejuni* with protein carrier. Monteiro *et al.* (2009) conjugated CPS with diphtheria toxin (DT) mutant CRM<sub>197</sub> and subcutaneously injected the non-human primate *Aoutus nancymaae* (144). Post-immunization serum collection revealed significant increases in

IgG, and IgM, but no increase in IgA. The animals were later challenged with  $6 \times 10^{11}$  colony forming units (CFU) of C. jejuni and observed for symptoms of illness. They reported that no animals experienced diarrheal symptoms but necropsy revealed intestinal colonization by the bacteria. Bertolo et al. (2013) produced similar antibody levels with their CPS conjugate, CPS and an un-named protein, but the functionality of the antibodies in preventing infection is yet to be tested (145). The principle obstacle with these vaccine designs is the considerable structural variation of CPS between serogroups (146). This diversity makes the design of a CPS vaccine capable of providing a broad range of immunity quite challenging. Additional vaccines have also been targeted against C. jejuni flagellum due to the important role it plays in invasion. Lee et al. (1999) immunized mice with a recombinant FlaA protein fused to the maltose-binding protein (MBP) of Escherichia coli (147). Mice were immunized intranasally with and without the mutant E. coli heat-labile enterotoxin (LT). Their formulation was effective in eliciting antigen-specific serum IgG and responses were enhanced when LT was co-administered. Significant levels of sIgA were also detected in the intestine. Animals were challenged orally with between  $8 \times 10^8 - 8$ x10<sup>10</sup> CFU and protection against colonization ranged from 71.4% to 100% depending on CFU concentration. Although this formulation appears to provide good levels of protection in the murine model, it may be problematic in humans as portions of the C. jejuni flagella are highly conserved with other bacterial flagellins and may generate immune responses against normal gut microflora (148). Baqar et al. (2008) attempted to circumvent this issue by targeting the secreted non-flagellar proteins that are associated with virulence. FlaC, FspA1, and FspA2 are secreted Cia proteins required for the invasion of intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) (149). Each protein was administered individually intranasally to mice and all three were confirmed to be immunogenic. FspA1 induced the highest levels of serum IgG and fecal IgA, and provided the greatest percent
protection (63.8%) against 3  $\times 10^9$  CFU when combined with LT. Although promising results, increased levels of protection are still desired and FspA1 is yet to demonstrate efficacy in higher animals.

Other research has focused on vaccine development against a virulence determinant of *C. jejuni*; cytolethal distending toxin (CDT). Advances in proteomics have permitted the design of pentapeptides, the smallest determinant functions as an antigen (150), which contain domains against CDT while being absent from the human proteome (151). Although intelligent in design, this vaccine strategy for *C. jejuni* has not been tested *in vivo*.

## 1.5 KatA (Catalase) Protein

The role of the catalase protein of *C. jejuni* (KatA) was discussed briefly above. KatA is a homotetrameric protein approximately 55 kDa in size. The protein is considered a typical catalase family member as it lacks peroxidise activity. Catalase appears to be primarily a cytosolic protein, however, data from investigations using the related species *Helicobacter pylori*, has indicated that the protein may have a surface localization as well (152; 153; 154). Harris *et al.* (2002) demonstrated that *H. pylori* was resistant to high concentrations of hydrogen peroxide (100 mM) using an *in vitro* tolerance assay. They compared the survival of KatA-deficient mutants and discovered these bacteria were unable to survive the harsh incubation (155). It was subsequently demonstrated *in vivo* that mice immunized with the KatA-deficient mutant cleared the infection significantly more than those immunized with the wild-type strain (156). Palyada *et al.* (2009) confirmed the ability of the *C. jejuni* strain NCTC 11168  $\Delta katA$  mutant to colonize the cecum of one-day old pathogen-free baby chickens. They determined that

mutants were not able to establish a colony (the number of mutants per gram of cecum was below detection limit) compared to the wild-type strain which had  $2.0 \times 10^7$  CFU per gram of cecum. The *katA* gene has been sequenced and codes for 508 amino acids (157). It has been suggested to be a potential vaccine candidate for a variety of enteric bacteria that require the KatA protein for colonization (155). Although many bacteria express catalase, they do not necessarily share homology; *C. jejuni* KatA is only 56% homologous to KatA from *Helicobacter* species, but is 99% conserved with other sequenced *C. jejuni* strains (158). The conserved sequence identity between *C. jejuni* strains made KatA a prospective candidate for our research on *C. jejuni* vaccine development. It has not yet been determined if humans can generate antibodies against this protein and a primary goal of this thesis was to determine KatA potential for vaccine development.

## **1.6 Rationale Behind the Project**

One of the major concerns about the development of a vaccine against *C. jejuni* revolves around inadvertently causing the autoimmune dysfunction, Guillain-Barré syndrome. As a consequence, more traditional vaccination strategies, such as using whole-killed or live attenuated bacteria, are not feasible in these circumstances. The best vaccination strategy is therefore to select a strongly antigenic epitope against *C. jejuni* and attempt to elicit a robust immune response against it. The catalase of *C. jejuni* (KatA) has been proposed to be a vaccine candidate against this enteric pathogen.

# 1.6.1 Aims

- 1) To determine if KatA is associated with the bacterial cell membrane.
- 2) To determine if KatA is a potent antigen suitable for vaccine development.
- 3) To determine if the antibodies generated against KatA, following the vaccination, have bactericidal properties and/or prevent invasion and adhesion of *C. jejuni* to human IECs.

# 1.6.2 Hypothesis

Catalase from *Campylobacter jejuni* will induce robust immune responses when administered *in vivo*. The antibodies produced will also be functional and will prevent *C. jejuni* from infecting immortalized human epithelial cells. The primary goal of this research was to validate KatA as a potential vaccine target and to further the development of a safe vaccine against campylobacteriosis.

#### 2.0 MATERIALS AND METHODOLOGY

## 2.1 Campylobacter jejuni Culture Conditions

Frozen *C. jejuni* strain 11168 was obtained from NCTC (Salisbury, UK). Ten microlitres ( $\mu$ L) of the bacterial suspension was streaked on Mueller-Hinton (MH) (Difco, New Jersey, USA) agar plates and incubated for 24-48 hours under microaerobic conditions (5% O<sub>2</sub>, 10% CO<sub>2</sub>, 85% N<sub>2</sub>) at 37°C in an Invivo<sub>2</sub> 500 Hypoxia Workstation (Ruskinn Technology Ltd, Pencoed, UK). A single colony was selected and inoculated in 25 mL MH broth medium and incubated for 24 hours. A total of 25 uL of this broth culture was then transferred to 250 mL sterile MH broth medium and incubated as above until the desired cell density was achieved.

## 2.2 Bacterial Growth Curve

Following the initial 24-hour growth period, 1 mL of MH broth culture was removed and transferred to a disposable clear cuvette and the optical density (OD) was measured at 600 nm using a portable spectrophotometer (Cell Density Meter 40, Fisher Scientific). Prior to measuring the culture broth, the cell density meter was calibrated using sterile MH broth. The measurement was repeated at time(s) 0, 1, 2, 6, 10, 16, 24, 30, 48, 54, 72 hours. A second aliquot of 100  $\mu$ L was removed and diluted serially in sterile PBS to achieve a final dilution of 10<sup>-3</sup>,10<sup>-4</sup>, and 10<sup>-5</sup> at time 0-9 hours, 10<sup>-4</sup>, 10<sup>-5</sup>, and 10<sup>-6</sup> from time 10-24 hours, and 10<sup>-5</sup>, 10<sup>-6</sup> and 10<sup>-7</sup> at time 24-72 hours. A 22  $\mu$ L aliquot of diluted bacteria was then transferred to 11 mL of warm MH agar (0.7% agar), mixed thoroughly, and poured on to a 25 mL MH agar plate (1.5% agarose). The plates were incubated for 48 hours under microaerobic conditions, as described above, and the number of colonies were counted. The number of colonies at each time point was multiplied by the dilution factor to determine the population density as a function of OD. The growth pattern

was also plotted as a function of time and as a function of OD. Protocol based on work described by Al Rashid (1998) (159).

## **2.3 Determination of Protein Concentration**

Protein concentration in bacterial fractions, and purified antibodies, was determined using a Thermo-Scientific (Canada) microplate protein assay kit (Cat#23225) containing bicinchoninic acid as the detection reagent. Standards were prepared by diluting bovine serum albumin (BSA) to 100  $\mu$ g/mL in 0.15M NaCl to create standards of 1000, 1500, 750, 500, 250, 125, 25  $\mu$ g/mL and 0  $\mu$ g/mL. The BCA working reagents were combined at a ratio 50 parts reagent A with 1 part reagent B as per manufacturer's instructions. 25  $\mu$ L of each standard or sample was transferred into a microplate well followed by the addition of 200  $\mu$ L of working reagent. The mixture was incubated at room temperature for 5 minute before the absorbance was read at 562 nm in a microplate reader (Synergy H4 Hybrid Reader, Biotek). In this colorimetric assay, the standards are the point of comparison for the protein concentration in the samples. This protocol is a dye-binding assay in which a differential colour change occurs in relation to the concentration of protein. Sample OD was determined following subtraction of the OD of the blank (0  $\mu$ g/mL).

## 2.4 Measurement of Particle Size Distribution and Zeta Potential

The protein size distribution was measured using dynamic light scattering at 25°C with a Zetasizer (Malvern Instruments, UK). Briefly, 5  $\mu$ L of KatA protein suspension (50 mM Tris, 0.2% SDS, 0.1% Tween 20) was diluted in 50  $\mu$ L of ddH<sub>2</sub>0 (1:11 dilution) and added to a quartz low-volume cuvette (Hellma Analytics, Germany). The intensity of the Helium-Neon laser (633nm) light scattered by the sample preparation (Phase analysis Light Scattering) was

measured to generate a particle-size distribution (PSD) profile. For the zeta potential measurement, 20  $\mu$ l of sample was diluted in 980  $\mu$ L of ddH<sub>2</sub>0 and transferred to a disposable capillary cell (Malvern Instruments, Cat#DTS1070). Three sets of measurements, comprised of 10 unique measurements each, were conducted. Data was analyzed using Zetasizer Software version 6.32 (Malvern Instruments).

### 2.5 Campylobacter jejuni Fractionation to Determine KatA Localization

One-hundred millilitres of *C. jejuni* strain 11168 were grown in a 250 mL flask to an OD<sub>600</sub> of 1.5-2.5. They were then concentrated by centrifugation for 5 minutes at 3500 RPM and resuspended in 2 mL PBS (pH 7.4). The cells were then lysed by sonication using 6 cycles of four 5-second bursts with a 1-minute time interval between where the solution was placed on ice. The cell extract was ultracentrifuged at 100,000 xg for 1-hour at 4°C to separate the soluble and insoluble fractions. The insoluble fraction (pellet) was resuspended in 1 mL PBS and transferred to a 1.5 mL microcentrifuge tube and spun at 10,000 xg for 10 minutes. The wash and centrifugation steps were repeated twice. The supernatant fraction was concentrated using Amicon 3 K (3000 kDa cut-off) tubes until a final volume of 1 mL was achieved. Protocol based on work described by Blaser *et al.* (1983) (160).

## 2.6 Antigen Purification of KatA Antibodies

The KatA polyclonal antibodies were further purified using KatA protein. Nitrocellulose paper (BioRad, Mississauga, Canada) was cut into 1 cm squares and placed in each well of a 24-well tissue culture plate (Sarstedt, Montreal, Canada). 14  $\mu$ g of purified KatA protein from A. Stintzi (refer to Appendix II: collaborator methodologies) was then spotted on each square and allowed to air dry in the shortest time possible to limit oxidation. The membrane was then blocked with

 $300 \ \mu$ l of 5% skim milk (Bioshop, Toronto, Canada) in PBS. The plate was placed on a rocking platform for 1 hour at 25°C. The membrane was washed 3 times in PBS and probed with the polyclonal serum from immunized mice from A. Stinzi (refer to Appendix II: collaborator methodologies) diluted in 1:5 in PBS and incubated overnight at 4°C. Membranes were then washed again 3 times in PBS for 5-minutes each at room temperature. The bound antibodies were eluted by the addition of 150  $\mu$ l 0.1 M glycine (BioShop) buffer pH 2.5. The eluate was then neutralized with 15  $\mu$ l 1 M Tris-HCl pH 8.0. The final solution was stored at -20°C.

## 2.7 Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

Immulon 2HB microtiter plates (Fisher Scientific, ON, CA) were coated overnight at 4°C with recombinant KatA protein at 5.0 µg/ml in carbonate coating buffer (15 mM Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>, 35 mM NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, pH 9.6) and 100 µl of the antigen/coating buffer mixture was added to each well of the plate. Plates were washed 6X with Tris-buffered saline (pH 7.4) containing 0.05% Tween 20 (TBST). Diluted mouse serum samples were added to each plate at 100  $\mu$ /well and allowed to incubate at 4°C overnight. Plates were washed again with TBST. Biotinylated goat-anti mouse IgG, IgG1 and IgG2a antibodies (Invitrogen, ON, CA) were diluted 1/10000 and then added to each plate at 100 µl/well and were subsequently incubated for 1 h at room temperature. Plates were washed and alkaline phosphatase conjugated with streptavidin (Cedarlane Laboratories, Hornby, ON, CA) was diluted 1/5000 and 100 µl was added in each well followed by another 1 h incubation at room temperature. Plates were washed 6X times in double distilled water (ddH<sub>2</sub>O). Di(Tris) p-nitrophenyl phosphate (PNPP) (Sigma) was diluted 1/100 in PNPP substrate buffer and 100 µl/well was added to each plate. The reaction was allowed to develop for 5-15 min, and optical density (OD) absorbance values at 405 nm in a Synergy H4 Microplate Reader (BioTek Instruments, VT, USA) were recorded. IgG ELISA results are reported as titers, which are the

reciprocal of the highest dilution that gave a positive OD reading. A positive titer was defined as an OD reading that was at least two times greater than the values for a negative sample. IgG1 and IgG2a ELISA results were reported as OD readings to determine if there was a shift in the quality of the immune responses. Sera from naïve, unimmunized mice were used as negative controls.

## 2.8 SDS-PAGE

Samples were incubated with 2β-mercaptoethanol (Merck, Germany) for 10 minutes at 100°C then separated by 12.5% acrylamide SDS-PAGE at 90 mV for 1.5-2.5 hours. Gels were stained with G250 Blue Coomassie stain (BioRad). A BLUeye prestained molecular weight marker containing standard proteins (FroggaBio, North York, Canada) was used. The gel was photographed in FluorChem FC3 imager (ProteinSimple, USA) to capture the relative molecular sizes of the sample proteins.

## 2.9 Western Blot

Preparations were processed by electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE, acrylamide 12.5%), transferred to nitrocellulose using a semi-dry transfer method and incubated overnight on a rocking platform in blocking buffer (5% skim milk in TBST) at 4°C. Blots were then incubated with the polyclonal antibody diluted in blocking buffer at room temperature for 1-2 hours. The primary antibodies used were as follows: (1) *C. jejuni* Kat A protein Westerns: polyclonal serum from rabbit against KatA protein provided by Dr. Alain Stintzi (University of Ottawa, ON, Canada) (diluted 1:5000); (2) purified high-affinity KatA antibodies (from above serum) (diluted 1:1000). After washing 3 times with TBST for 10 minutes on the rocking platform, secondary antibodies were added and incubated for 1-2 hours at room temperature. The secondary antibody used was donkey anti-

rabbit IgG-HRP linked whole antibodies (GE Healthcare, Cat#NA934) (diluted 1:10000). The membrane was placed in an activated ECL Western blotting detection reagent (GE Healthcare, Cat#RPN2209/8/9) for one-minute prior to film exposure. Blots were exposed to Amersham ECL Hyperfilm (GE Healthcare) and developed in a medical film processor SRX-101A (Konica Minolta, Japan).

#### 2.10 Animals and Immunization

All animal model experiments were conducted according to the Guidelines for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals as indicated by the Canadian Council on Animal Care and was approved by the Animal Care Committee of Laurentian University. Forty-eight female BALB/c mice were obtained from Charles River Laboratories (Sherbrooke, Quebec, Canada). The mice were divided into six (6) groups of 8 mice each. The mice were 3-4 weeks old when they arrived and were housed at the Laurentian University Animal Care Facility (Sudbury, Ontario, Canada) under diurnal lighting (7 A.M. to 7 P.M.). Four mice were housed in each disposable plastic cage (Innovive, USA) food and water were provided ad libitum. The mice received the following formulations (Table 3): (A) PBS, (B) KatA protein from A. Stintzi (refer to Appendix II: collaborator methodologies), (C) KatA protein and alum, (D) KatA protein and monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL), (E) KatA protein, alum, and MPL, and (F) 10<sup>8</sup> inactivated Campylobacter jejuni 11168 cells. C. jejuni was inactivated by a combination of heat and formalin inactivation. Half of the cells were inactivated at 60°C for 60 min, while the other half were inactivated by the addition of 0.02M formalin and incubated at room temperature for 1-hour. Inactivation was verified when cells were streaked on MH agar plates and no growth was observed over 48-hours under microaerobic conditions. All formulations were in a final volume of 50 µl that was delivered intramuscularly. The amount of KatA, alum and MPL in each of their respective

formulations was 5 µg, 100 µg, and 5 µg, respectively. The amounts of each component in each formulation are outlined in Table 3. The formulations were prepared fresh one day before immunization. The mice were immunized three weeks apart for a total of three immunizations. Any signs of adverse reactions to the immunizations were monitored. Mice were bled prior to immunization and one week after each subsequent immunization by facial vein techniques. One week after the final immunization, a final bleed was conducted by cardiac blood draw. These procedures were performed by Dr. Nelson Eng and Dr. Nitin Bhardwarj (Advanced Medical Research Institute of Canada, Sudbury, Canada: 2012).

Group	Vaccine Formulation	Route of Immunization
	(per dose)	(t = 0, 3, 6 weeks)
А	PBS	$\mathrm{IM}^{*}$
В	5 µg Kat A	IM
С	5 µg Kat A, 100 µg of alum	IM
D	5 µg Kat A, 5 µg MPL	IM
Е	5 µg Kat A, 100 µg alum, 5 µg MPL	IM
F	10 <sup>8</sup> inactivated/killed <i>C. jejuni</i> in PBS	IM

**Table 3**. Mouse subject immunization schedule and vaccine details.

\*IM = intramuscular injection

## 2.11 Bactericidal Assay

Serum was pooled from the eight animals in each immunization group. Each group of sera was then incubated at 56°C for 30 minutes to inactivate endogenous mouse complement. Subsequently, 50  $\mu$ L of de-complemented sera, diluted tenfold in PBS, was mixed with 25  $\mu$ L of a *C. jejuni* (strain NCTC 11168) suspension containing 5 x 10<sup>4</sup> CFU/mL in a sterile 96-well flat bottom microtitre plate. The plate was incubated for 15 minutes under microaerobic conditions. Subsequently, 25  $\mu$ L standard guinea pig complement (diluted 1/50 in PBS) was added and the plate was further incubated for one hour under the same conditions as above. One millilitre aliquots were then removed and diluted in molten MH agar (0.7% agar) and poured on top of MH agar (1.5% agar) plates. Plates were incubated at 37°C using the above conditions for 48 hours and the colonies on each plate were counted. Bactericidal activity was calculated as a percentage reduction in viable bacteria relative to respective control plates where no serum was added in the formula [CFU (bacteria + complement) - CFU (bacteria + complement + serum)] / CFU (bacteria + complement). Plating was done in duplicate on three different occasions. In a separate experiment done once, mouse complement was also used to compare activity.

## 2.12 Campylobacter jejuni Adherence and Invasion Assays

*C. jejuni* strain NCTC 11168 was grown in MH media for 24-48 hours under the standard microaerophillic conditions (as previously described). The cells were centrifuged for 10 minutes at 120 x g and the pellet was re-suspended in a volume of Dulbeccos's modified Eagle's Medium supplemented with Fetal Bovine Serum (10%) and non-essential amino acids (1%) to provide a final OD reading of 0.1. Caco-2 cat#HTB-37 (ATCC, Manasses, VA) cells were seeded and grown to confluence  $(1.0 \times 10^6)$  cells in 24-well tissue culture plates. Serum from the immunized

mice was diluted in PBS (1:10, 1:50; 1:100; 1:200) and incubated with the bacteria for 1 hour at  $37^{\circ}$ C. The mixture was then incubated with the Caco-2 monolayer for 3 hours at  $37^{\circ}$ C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere.

# 2.12.1 Adherence Assay

The cells were then gently washed three-times with pre-warmed PBS and lysed via a 15-minute incubation with 0.1% Triton X-100 (Cornell, Philadelphia, PA) to release adherent and intracellular bacteria. The number of viable bacteria released was assessed by plating a 50-fold dilution on MH agar. Percentages of adherent bacteria compared to the controls. First, the survival rate of bacteria without serum, and second, the survival rate of bacteria incubated with serum from mice immunized with PBS. Three independent assays were performed each done in duplicate.

## 2.12.2 Invasion Assay

The gentamycin protection assay used in this study was the same as that described by Louwen *et al.* (2008) (161) and applied by Habib *et al.* (2009) (162). Following the serum incubation with the Caco-2 monolayer (described above) the cells were incubated for another 2 h in 1 mL of DMEM containing gentamicin (480  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup>) to kill any extracellular bacteria. Following the incubation, the monolayer was washed and lysed as above.

#### 2.13 Statistical Analysis

All comparisons were made using a one-way ANOVA with a post-hoc Tukey's multiple comparison test. Results were analyzed using Prism software version 5.0 (Graphpad, USA). Results were considered to be significant if  $p \le 0.05$ .

## 3.0 RESULTS

# 3.1 Campylobacter jejuni Growth Curve

*Campylobacter jejuni* strain 11168 produced a predictable and reproducible pattern of growth MH media under microaerophillic conditions,  $(5\% O_2, 10\% CO_2, 85\% N_2)$  and  $37^{\circ}$ C, over the 72 hour observational period (Fig.3). The period of exponential growth was determined to be from 6 to 36 hours following the commencement of the observational period (24 hours after broth was inoculated). The optical density (OD) of the broth translated reliably into a population density after the number of colony-forming units (CFUs) were counted. A linear function was applied to the region of exponential growth and was used to estimate the population of the broth based on the OD measured.



**Figure 3.** Bacterial growth of *C. jejuni* strain NCTC 11168 in MH medium under microaerobic conditions (5%  $O_2$ , 10%  $CO_2$ , 85%  $N_2$ ) monitored over 72 hours. Optical density (OD at 600 nm) as a function of growth time. Four unique experiments were performed.

# 3.1 KatA Antibody Specificity

The purified IgG antibodies received from our collaborator (A. Stintzi; refer to Appendix II) were derived from a mouse immunization with the KatA protein. The serum collected from the mice immunized by N. Eng and N. Bhardwarj (2012) (Sudbury, ON) was polyclonal in nature and produced high cross-reactivity with the assortment of *C. jejuni* proteins in our Western blots (Fig. 4A). The technique used in this thesis for isolating high-affinity antibodies from polyclonal serum for a specific protein was derived from Blaser *et al.* (1983) (160). This technique produced a significant increase in KatA protein specificity. Even with the additional purification, some cross-reactivity with other bacterial proteins was still evident validating the need for a method to more accurately detect this protein (Fig. 4B).



**B**.

A.



3

4

1

Figure 4. Detection of KatA protein via Western blot with high affinity KatA antibodies and polyclonal IgG serum. Duplicate Western blots from SDS-PAGE gels blotted using: (A) Antibodies purified with IgG magnetic beads and (B) high affinity KatA antibodies following additional in-house purification. Lane 1 and 2: duplicates of pelleted fraction; Lane 3 and 4: duplicates of supernatant fractions; Lane 5: purified KatA. Thirty-minute exposure to highsensitivity film.

## 3.2 Localization of the KatA protein

In order for a vaccine against *C. jejuni* to be effective, the antibodies generated would have to bind epitopes on the bacterial membrane and prevent colonization in the small intestine. Thus, KatA would need to translocate to the membrane from the cytoplasm for antigen-specific antibodies to bind. While evidence has shown that this occurs with KatA in *H. pylori* (152; 153; 154), the present study investigated the possibility of a similar localization in *C. jejuni*. After sonication of *C. jejuni*, and separation of insoluble and soluble fractions by ultracentrifugation, the amount of protein in each fraction was assessed using a Bradford assay. It was determined that the soluble fraction contained 1.18 mg/mL of protein while the insoluble fraction had 1.14 mg/mL. Western blotting indicated that KatA is present in both fractions, providing some evidence that KatA may transiently localize to the membrane (Fig. 4 and Fig. 5). This suggests that a vaccine using KatA to prevent colonization may be possible. The detected bands were confirmed to be *C. jejuni* KatA by mass spectrometry.



**Figure 5. KatA is localized both in cytoplasmic and membrane fractions of** *Campylobacter jejuni*. Polyclonal anti-KatA antibody was purified by antigen-affinity chromatography and was used to determine the presence of KatA in both supernatant and pelleted fractions of *C. jejuni* lysate. Lane 1: Purified KatA; Lane 2 and 3: duplicates of supernatant fractions; Lane 4 and 5: duplicates of pelleted fraction. The major band in lanes 2-5 were identified as KatA by mass spectrometry analysis. 15-minute exposure to high sensitivity film.

# 3.3 Physiochemical Evaluation of KatA

The average particle size distribution (PSD) for the KatA protein received from A. Stintzi (refer to Appendix II: Collaborator methodologies) was determined to be 108.3 nm. Three distinct peaks were detected with 41.6% of particles at average diameter 6.67 nm, 29.7% at 286.9 nm, and 22.6% at 45.49 nm. The polydispersity index PI, a measure of the width of molecular weight distributions (MWD), was recorded at 0.40. The PI describes how diverse the PSD range is (PDI<0.1 is monodisperse PDI>0.1 is multimodal) (163). A score of 0.40 reflects the presence of multiple, distinct distributions with no overlap between them. The surface charge of the particle was -4.58 mV indicating only poor predicted stability at ambient temperatures.



B

A



**Figure 6.** Analysis of physical properties of the KatA protein at ambient temperature. (A) Particle size distribution (PSD) in diameter nanometers (d.nm.). (B) Average particle surface charge = -4.58 milli-Volts (mV).

# 3.4 Antigenicity of the KatA Protein

The immunogenicity of KatA from *C. jejuni* (A. Stintzi) was evaluated following the intramuscular injection of BALB/c mice. Sera were collected from all mice one week post- $3^{rd}$  immunization (refer to Table 3: Immunization details), and was used for total IgG ELISA. Sera from mice immunized with KatA alone had mean anti-KatA IgG end point titers of  $1.9 \times 10^6$  (Fig. 7). Mean ELISA titers were comparable,  $3.9 \times 10^6$  and  $3.8 \times 10^6$  in mice immunized with KatA in conjunction with alum and MPL respectively (Fig. 7, p < 0.05 compared to the PBS group). Mice immunized with inactivated *C. jejuni* had mean end point ELISA titers of  $2.5 \times 10^5$ . The highest titers ( $5.6 \times 10^6$ ) were observed in sera from mice immunized with KatA and a combination of both adjuvants (alum and MPL) (Fig. 7), which was significant (p < 0.05) compared to titers induced by KatA alone, PBS, and killed bacteria. These results suggest that *C. jejuni* KatA is immunogenic, and humoral responses can be enhanced with the addition of adjuvants.



Figure 7. *C. jejuni* KatA is immunogenic and immune responses are enhanced with the addition of adjuvants. Total IgG in mouse serum one week after three intramuscular immunizations was enumerated for mice administered with PBS (negative control), KatA, KatA+alum, KatA+MPL, KatA+alum+MPL or inactivated *C. jejuni*. Values represent the mean endpoint titers within each group of mice (n = 8). Error bars shown represent the standard error within each mouse group. \* p < 0.05.

# 3.5 Adjuvant Modulation of KatA-Specific Immune Responses

One week post-3<sup>rd</sup> immunization, sera were collected from all mice and used for IgG isotype ELISA. Sera from mice immunized with KatA alone had primarily antibody mediated immune response as reflected by the increased level of Th2 response compared to that of Th1 (Fig. 8). Mice immunized with inactivated *C. jejuni* also had a Th2 bias suggestive of a predominant antibody mediated response (Fig. 8). Balanced Th1 and Th2 responses were observed in mice that received KatA in conjunction with both alum and MPL (Fig. 8).



**Figure 8.** The addition of alum or MPL to KatA induces a balanced IgG1/IgG2a ratio. Mouse serum was evaluated for IgG1 and IgG2a subtypes and measured by OD<sub>405</sub> by KatA-specific ELISA. OD measurements are indicated for each mouse (n=8) in the scatterplot, where the line in each group represents the mean OD and error bars are indicative of standard error. Serum was analyzed from mice that were immunized with (A) PBS, (B) KatA, (C) KatA+alum, (D) KatA+MPL, (E) KatA+alum+MPL or (F) inactivated *C. jejuni*.

## 3.6 KatA Antibody Bactericidal Activity

To determine the functionality of the antibodies generated by mice induced by the formulations, a bactericidal assay was conducted to evaluate the ability of the antibodies to kill *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168. When bactericidal assays were conducted with guinea pig complement, serum from mice immunized with KatA alone showed a reduction of  $11.3 \pm 2.9$  (SEM)%, while a  $13.6 \pm 2.2\%$  decrease in bacterial counts was observed in serum from mice immunized with KatA and both alum and MPL (Fig. 9). As a control, immune serum from mice immunized with inactivated bacteria reduced counts by  $24.6 \pm 3.5\%$ , which was significantly different from the reduction shown by KatA-induced serum (Fig. 9, p < 0.1). Interestingly, using mouse complement, serum from mice immunized with KatA alone and KatA+alum+MPL showed a bacterial reduction of 7.2% and 19.7% respectively (data not shown).



Figure 9. Bactericidal activity of KatA antibodies generated following an intramuscular immunization in mice. Bactericidal activity was conducted by counting the number of *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 colony forming units (CFU) at t = 0 and t = 1 hours using guinea pig complement. Reduction in bacterial counts was expressed as a percentage normalized against the group of mice that was immunized with PBS. \*p<0.1. Two unique experiments were conducted each with samples examined in triplicate.

#### **3.7 Adhesion and Invasion Assays**

In addition to bactericidal activity, antibodies may also be considered functional if they prevent the attachment or invasion of *C. jejuni* to epithelial cells in the small intestine (62). Serum (diluted 1:10, 1:50, and 1:100) from mice that were immunized with PBS, inactivated whole bacteria, KatA alone, and KatA with alum and MPL were incubated with *C. jejuni* and then added to Caco-2 human epithelial cells *in vitro*. At the 1:10 dilution, when normalized against serum from mice immunized with PBS, there was a  $54.4 \pm 2.4\%$  CFU decrease in adhesion of *C. jejuni* to Caco2 cells using serum raised against whole bacteria,  $43.5 \pm 1.3\%$  with KatA and alum/MPL, and  $36.6 \pm 2.5\%$  decrease in CFU in serum raised against KatA alone (Fig. 10A, p < 0.05). A significant dose effect was observed (p<0.05) with the percent decrease in CFU diminishing in the assays using serum diluted at 1:50 (Fig. 10B) and 1:100 (data not shown).

In the invasion assay, at 1:10 dilution, there were no significant differences between the percent CFU decrease using serum from mice immunized with whole cell bacteria (53.5  $\pm$  3.1%), KatA/alum/MPL (42.7  $\pm$  4.9%), and KatA alone (40.4  $\pm$  2.4%); however, all three groups showed significant reduction in bacterial invasion relative to the PBS control. This result indicates that all three sera equally interfered with the ability of *C. jejuni* to invade Caco-2 cells (Fig. 10C, p > 0.05). The addition of alum/MPL to KatA did not further decrease the number of bacteria invading Caco-2 cells compared to antisera raised against KatA alone. There was no significant difference between groups when the sera was diluted to 1:50 (Fig. 10D) and 1:100 (data not shown), but the percent CFU decreases across all groups were lower compared to the 1:10 dilution. In both cases, these results suggest that antibodies from sera induced by KatA affect the ability of *C. jejuni* to colonize *in vitro*.



Figure 10. The effect of KatA antibodies in preventing the adhesion and invasion of *C. jejuni* to human epithelial cells (Caco-2) *in vitro*. Sera from mice immunized with KatA, KatA+Alum+MPL, or whole killed *C. jejuni* (WB) were diluted 1:10 (A) and 1:50 (B) and incubated with *C. jejuni* followed by addition to Caco-2 cells. Bacterial adherence (CFU counts) was enumerated following a 48-hour incubation under microaerobic conditions. A one-way ANOVA was performed with a Tukey's multiple comparison test to assess for statistically significant differences. *C. jejuni* invasion using 1:10 (C) and 1:50 (D) serum dilutions was determined using a gentamicin protection assay. The percent decrease of bacterial invasion (CFU/plate) for mice immunized with KatA, KatA+Alum+MPL, or whole killed *C. jejuni* (WB) was normalized relative to mice immunized with PBS. \*p<0.05; \*\*\*p<0.0005.

#### **4.0 DISCUSSION**

## 4.1 Campylobacter. jejuni Observation

Despite the bacteria's reported *in vitro* culture fragility (164), the bacteria were easily cultured in the lab under microaerophillic conditions. As the culture aged, an increasing number of coccoid shaped bacteria were observed. This corresponds to work by Beck *et al.* (1983) who discovered that the age of the culture might influence the phenotypic properties of *C. jejuni*. As the bacteria age, their morphology transforms from the typical spiral shaped appearance to a coccoid form. The coccoid form dominates in older cultures and is believed to represent a degenerate state produced by unfavourable growth conditions (165). The bacteria were examined using a light microscope (400x - 1000x) to confirm the absence of coccoid forms, before usage in *in vitro* assays, to simulate *in vivo* invasion as much as possible.

## 4.2 KatA Protein Characterization

Proteins are dynamic structures and often exist in a state of flux between the native and partially unfolded intermediates (62). The size of a protein is an important physical characteristic that provides useful information including the presence of monomers, dimers and trimers, changes in conformation, aggregation state, and denaturation (166). The PSD analysis revealed the presence of several distributions of protein sizes (Fig. 6A) in contrast to an expected singular distribution. Proteins that may be denatured, unfolded, and aggregated into clusters, is undesirable from the immunization perspective as the resulting antibodies generated will not be of high-affinity for the native form presented by the bacteria (62). Consequently, the state of the protein may have reduced the effectiveness of the immunization as many antibodies are conformation-dependent (166).

Zeta potential is a measure of the magnitude of the electrostatic or charge repulsion/attraction between particles, and is one of the fundamental parameters known to affect stability (167). The greater the surface charge of a particle, the greater the force of repulsion between them smaller the probability of aggregation occurring (167). The zeta potential of KatA at physiological pH ( $\approx$ 7.0) was determined to be -4.58 mV. This indicates that under physiological conditions, the protein is near its isoelectric point (IEP); the pH of a protein solution at which the net charge or zeta potential of protein is zero (168). Unfortunately, at the IEP of protein, its structure is more hydrophobic, more compact and less stable due to absence of inter-particle repulsive forces (169). This may explain the apparent lack of stability and presence of larger size particles found in the PSD analysis.

## 4.3 Cellular Localization of the KatA Protein

The technique utilized in this work to isolate high-affinity KatA antibodies from a polyclonal IgG sera produced a visible increase in KatA protein specificity. Even with the additional purification, some cross-reactivity with other bacterial proteins was still evident (Fig. 4B) validating the need for a method to more accurately detect this protein. Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) are efficient analytic tools for detection, screening and characterization of biomolecules, and have wide application as diagnostics (62). mAbs have been successfully used to identify serotype specificity but none are commercially available for the KatA protein. The development of a mAb for KatA would allow for more accurate protein detection and quantification through densitometric analysis.

Results from the bacterial fragmentation experiment indicated that KatA is present, in approximately equal amounts in both the soluble and insoluble partitions (Fig. 5). These findings provide some evidence that KatA may be able to induce the production of functional antibodies

that act on the bacterial surface but further investigation is warranted. In addition, the bacteria utilized in these experiments were not in their harsh host environment, but rather floating contently in their nutrient-rich broth. Other research has indicated that the expression of KatA is upregulated and transport to the surface occurs only after the bacteria have encountered a host (152). Consequently, this experiment does not reflect how KatA is presented when the infectious process is actually occurring. It may be of benefit to repeat the experiment using bacteria that have been primed for invasion by first having them encounter host cells. Following this priming, the KatA expression pattern will be more reflective of that *in vivo* and thus will provide more information concerning the localization of KatA during invasion.

In these experiments, the localization of KatA to the membrane was not confirmed definitively. The separation procedure divided the cellular contents into soluble (cytoplamsic contents) and insoluble (inner and outer cell membranes). The presence of KatA detected in the insoluble fraction does not discern which membrane, or at what ratio, the protein is associated.

Interestingly, two separate proteomic analyses by Jang *et al.* (2014) (170) and Elmi *et al.* (2012) (171) reported the identities of all proteins found within outer membrane vesicles (OMV) secreted by *C. jejuni*. OMVs are nano-sized vesicles (10-500 nm) (172) secreted by Gramnegative bacteria. They contain a sampling of outer membrane contents including LPS, OMPs, periplasmic proteins, virulence factors and occasionally cytoplasmic proteins (173). The presence of KatA was not reported in either analysis which does not support the idea that it has an outer-membrane localization. However, the bacteria used in these analyses were not activated by the presence of host cells thus the OMVs examined were not reflective of protein expression and localization that occurs during *in vivo* invasion.

The outstanding question of KatA localization could be resolved quickly if a monoclonal antibody was available. Monoclonal antibodies can be successfully conjugated to fluorochromes such as fluorescein, biotin, Texas Red, and phycobiliprotein (174). Conjugation of fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC) to purified antibody is an extremely valuable technique for identifying surface molecules using either fluorescence microscopy or flow cytometry (174). Thus, fluorescent mAbs would highlight the presence of KatA at the cell surface under various conditions (i.e. unstimulated versus stimulated by epithelial cells). Alternatively, the outer membranes of *C. jejuni* could be extracted, as with other Gram-negative bacteria, using a mild detergent and separated using an SDS-PAGE in a similar fashion to that demonstrated by Acevedo *et al.* (2009) (175). The high-affinity KatA antibody preparation, used in the present study could be used to determine if the protein was absent. A positive result, however, could only be confirmed following protein band analysis using mass-spectroscopy due to antibody potential for cross-reaction. Again, the identification process would be simpler and more accurate if a mAb was available.

#### 4.4 Antigenicity of the KatA Protein

The second major goal of this thesis was to determine if the KatA protein could stimulate antibody production. Large quantities of IgG were detected in serum one-week following the third IM vaccination of mice. As expected, the addition of adjuvants MPL and alum stimulated even higher titers of anti-KatA antibodies, especially when used in combination.

The administration of the KatA protein produced a dominant IgG1 response as injected soluble antigen favours Th2 responses (176). The administration of killed bacteria also produced a dominant IgG1 response as expected. The addition of MPL produced increased IgG2a as expected through the predicted engagement of TLR4 (177). MPL has been shown to direct Th1 responses and is currently the adjuvant used in Melacine<sup>®</sup>, a licensed cancer vaccine (178). Recently, the combination of L-tyrosine and MPL<sup>®</sup> enhanced murine antigen specific IgG2 antibody responses without enhancing antigen specific IgE responses (179). For this reason, MPL is now being considered for use as an adjuvant in clinical allergy vaccinations (179). Therefore, the continued use of MPL in further *C. jejuni* vaccine development may be warranted to counter balance IgE levels, should it be elicited by the KatA protein.

The addition of alum increased the levels of IgG2a which was an unexpected result as alum normally promotes a Th2 biased response (180). Finally, the trifecta of KatA, MPL, and Alum produced approximately equal amounts of IgG1 and IgG2a. While there are several theories that exist as to how alum functions as an adjuvant including acting as a depot, and allowing extended contact with the antigen and the APC, there is another theory that suggests that alum is not actually driving Th2 differentiation but instead is suppressing Th1 responses (180). Brewer *et al.* (1996) observed that administration of an antigen with alum, in the absence of IL-4, generated concomittant T cell responses resulting in the production of both IgG1 and IgG2a isotypes (181).

Th2 responses normally occur when IL-4 stimulates transcription factor STAT6 which controls expression of the master Th2 regulatory transcription factor, GATA-3 (182). IL-2 has also been identified to play a critical role in this process throught the activation of STAT5 leading to transcription of IL-4 (183). Th2 differentiation has also been proposed to proceed through an IL-4 independent mechanisms when peptides are presented at low concentrations (184). TCR activation under these conditions stimulates increases in GATA3 mRNA and induces IL-2 production activating STAT5 (185). The fact that IL-4 knockout mice can still stimulate Th2 is

believed to be due to this signal pathway redundancy (136). Therefore, IL-4 is not required under certain circumstances to initiate Th2 differentiation.

The suppression of Th1 by alum would allow for the Th2 differentiation to occur uninterrupted as IFN-γ would not be able to suppress the expression of GATA3. In the present work, the KatA protein adsorbed to alum was able to induce concomittant KatA specific Th1/Th2 responses. This preliminary data suggests that KatA induces an IL-4 independent Th2 response which would allow for the alum to lead to unbiased T cell responses. Consequently, isotype switching to both IgG1 and IgG2a would occur as observed in our experimental results. While we recognize that the immune system is complex, and multiple systems can influecen the reseponse, this work relies on the Th1/Th2 paradigm which does not take into account other T helper subtypes.

The achievement of a balanced Th1/Th2 response is desirable for a *C. jejuni* vaccine as Campylobacter-specific IgA and IFN- $\gamma$  are associated with resistance to clinical disease suggesting these components might be important markers of protective immunity (136; 186). Initially, it would be desirable to prevent infection through the secretion of high-affinity anti-*Campylobacter* antibodies. If the first line fails, and infection occurs, then enhanced cell-mediated immunity via macrophage would be desirable.

# 4.5 Functional Antibody Assessments

The antibodies produced in the immunization had some bactericidal properties. Our bactericidal assay demonstrated only partial killing of *C. jejuni* using serum from mice immunized with whole killed *Campylobacter*, KatA alone or KatA+alum+MPL. None of the immunized groups demonstrated a true bactericidal activity as industry standards require cell survival to be less than

50% (187). The killing of the bacteria in this assay is believed to occur through the activation of complement cascade (reviewed in appendix 1) and subsequent insertion of the MAC leading to cell lysis (188). Serum from the animals immunized with whole bacteria induced the greatest amount of cell death as to be expected. Parkhill et al. (2009) analyzed the genome and predicted that approximately 20 genes code for constitutively expressed OMPs (189). Several of these proteins can be expected to be immunogenic and the other components of the cell surface, such as LOS and LPS have been determined to produce antibodies in mice. Therefore, following the IM administration, potentially dozens of antibodies were generated against the bacteria's surface thus increasing the likelihood of complement assembly.

Despite the advantages of the whole-killed bacteria administrations, the KatA immunization groups performed considerably well. The addition of adjuvants to the KatA protein did not significantly enhance bacterial killing. IgG1 is the IgG subtype with the highest affinity for complement proteins and is therefore the most critical for the activation of the classical pathway (62). The KatA protein alone generated high quantities of the IgG1 isotypes and the addition of MPL and Alum did not increase levels of IgG1 and enhanced IgG2a which has an extremely low affinity for complement (62). Thus, it makes sense for the KatA adjuvanted group to produce only slightly more bactericidal activity than the KatA protein alone. Interestingly, serum from the mice immunized with PBS displayed bactericidal activity suggesting that bacterial killing was also occurred due to alternative and lectin complement pathway activation. Consequently, data was normalized to subtract this baseline endogenous activity. This assay was not conducted as a simulation of a real invasion process as the bactericidal activity of serum is effective only against Gram-negative bacteria which have entered the bloodstream (190). Rates of bacteraemia are very low and detected in < 1% of patients with Campylobacter enteritis, occurring most often
in patients with a severely compromised immune system (15). These results do, however, provide evidence that the KatA antibodies generated are capable of binding to the bacterial surface.

### 4.6 Adhesion and Invasion Assays

It is not enough to report the production of antibodies; they must also be functional in order for an antigen to be useful in vaccine development (191). Most vaccines are validated using a challenge experiment in an animal model to determine vaccine efficacy (192). This is often done challenging the subject following the initial immunizations, by administering an elevated dose of the live pathogen, and examining whether the disease state occurs (192). Because of the lack of reliable animal models to simulate campylobacteriosis, cell culture models of bacteria with the epithelium are valuable for defining bacteria-host interactions. These models are used because they are thought to mimic the same bacteria-host interaction that occurs in the natural disease. The ability of C. *jejuni* to enter, survive, and replicate in mammalian cells has been widely studied using in vitro models (193; 59; 194; 195; 196; 197). Studies have shown that C. jejuni harvested from earlier phases of growth exhibit greater adherence to human epithelial cells than those from older colonies (>72 h) (60). Bacterial growth temperature is a second factor which influences adhesion to epithelial cells and adhesion was determined to be most efficient at 37°C (60). Because of this, all of our experiments were conducted with bacterial colonies in the log phase of growth (36-48 hours post-inoculum) in a microaerobic chamber set to 37°C. Results from our data suggest that KatA antibodies can physically prevent C. jejuni from attaching and invading host epithelial cells as shown by the *in vitro* studies using Caco-2 cells. Caco-2 cells were selected as they can partially differentiate in culture to produce microvilli, form tight junctions between cells, and express apical surface enzymes characteristic in *in vivo* enterocytes

(45). Confluent cultures, as used in the assay, exhibited the dome morphology characteristic of mature enterocytes indicating that the monolayer was functionally polarized (198). The polarity of IEC is important determinant of cell responses to microbes and essential for a realistic simulation of *in vivo* invasion (199). Interestingly, immunizing mice with KatA alone generated serum capable of decreasing the number of bacteria that could attach/invade Caco-2 cells. Mice immunized with whole bacteria, which included other potent immunopotentiators such as LPS, performed only marginally better than the serum from the animals immunized with KatA (Fig. 10).

It is important to note the limitations of the *in vitro* assays used in these experiments. First, the reported adhesion of *C. jejuni* with intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) is often reported to be less than 1% of the starting inoculum (200) (ours ranged from 0.01-0.1%). This low level of adhesion does not correlate with the clinical presentation in humans (200). This phenomenon is likely due to atmospheric oxygen conditions required for the survival of the IECs. Although our assay incubations were performed under low oxygen conditions, there were several periods up to 30 minutes in duration where the plates were under atmospheric conditions which may have been harmful to the bacteria. The relevance of the adhesion and invasion assays can be called into questions as during the course of a real *C. jejuni* host invasion, sIgA would be the most critical antibody to prevent adhesion. IgA levels were not evaluated in this experiment as they were not expected to be significant following an IM administration. The purpose of this investigation was to simply verify if KatA would be to administer the KatA protein mucosally, either orally or intranasally, and evaluate the levels of sIgA produced at mucosal sites. The adhesion and

invasion assays could be repeated *in vitro* but conducting a live challenge in the immunized animal would be the best way to evaluate protective immunity.

If indeed KatA is not present at the cell surface, then it would appear that we have generated cross-reactive antibodies capable of effectively binding another surface protein. This in itself would be an important discovery as antibody binding to this protein(s) is effectively reducing the rates of adhesion and invasion. This is in fact possible as the western blot of fractionated bacteria revealed that, even with the high-affinity antibodies, three additional proteins were detected (Fig. 4). These proteins were also sent for mass-spectroscopy and the results revealed that they were not the KatA protein.

# 4.7 Conclusion

The high prevalence of *C. jejuni* infections, increases in antibiotic resistance, and the incidence and severity of post-infectious syndromes validates the need for a prophylactic vaccine. The development of such a vaccine has been hindered by the unique structure of *C. jejuni* LOS and the potential for molecular mimicry to generate auto-immune disorders. Thus, the most promising strategies involve the development of subunit vaccines. The data in the present experiment provides some support the candidacy of the KatA protein as a vaccine antigen but many fundamental questions remain unanswered. This is the first indication KatA from *C. jejuni* may be a useful vaccine antigen. Catalase is also believed highly conserved between *Helicobacter sp.*, although such a comparison is yet to be reported for *Campylobacter sp.*, the protein is fundamental for the pathogen invasion. Future studies will examine the efficacy of KatA in mucosal deliveries combined with potent mucosal antigens. Before any true conclusions can be drawn, KatA must demonstrate protective immunity against a live *C. jejuni* challenge. This work increases the vaccine antigen knowledge base against *C. jejuni* and offers hope that a safe and effective vaccine can be produced.

# **5.0 REFERENCES**

1. Brandtzaeg P., Farstad I., Johansen F.E., Morton H.C., Norderhaug I.N., Yamanaka T. *The B-cell system* of human mucosae and exocrine glands. 1999. *Immunological Reviews*, 171: 46-87.

2. Brandtzaeg, P. Role of secretory antibodies in the defence against infection. 2003. *J Med Microbiol*, **293**:3-15.

3. Ketley J. Pathogenesis of enteric infection by Campylobacter. 1997. Micro, 143:5-21.

4. Taylor DE. Genetics of Campylobacter and Helicobacter. 1992. Ann Rev Micro, 46:35-64.

5. Hanninen, M.L., Perko-Makel, P., Pitkala, A., Rautelin, H. A three-year study of *Campylobacter jejuni* genotypes in humans with domestically acquired infections and in chicken samples from the Helsinki areas. 2000. *J Clin Microbiol*, **38**:1998-2000.

6. Pearson, A.D., Greenwood, H., Donaldson, J., Healing, T.D., Jones, M., Shahamat, M. Feltham, K.A., Colwell, R. **Continous source outbreak of campylobacteriosis traced to chicken**. 2000. *J Food Prot*, **63**: 309-314.

7. Fosse, J., Seegers, H., Magras, C. Foodborne zoonoses due to meat: a quantitative approach for a comparative risk assessment applied to pig slaughtering in Europe. 2008. *Vet Res*, **39**:1-16.

8. Fosse, J., Seegers, H., Magras, C. Hierarchy of risk of zoonotic foodborn illness: a qualitative approch. Dangerous bacteria transmitted from the consuption of pork and beef products. 2008. *Rev Sci Tech Off Int Epizoot*, **27**:643-655.

9. Haag L., Fischer A., Otto B., Plickert R., Kuhl A., Gobel U., Bereswill S., Heimesaat M. Intestinal microbiota shifts towards elevated commensal Escherichia coli loads abrogate colonization resistance against *Campylobacter jejuni* in mice. 2012. *PLOS*, **7**:1-13.

10. Engberg, J., Gerner-Smidt, P., Scheutz, F., Moller, E., Nielson, M., Molbak, K. Water-borne *Campylobacter jejuni* infection in a Danish town - a 6-week continous source outbreak. 1998. *Clin Microbiol Infect*, **4**:648-656.

11. Amato, S., Maragno, M., Mosele, P., et al. **An outbreak of** *Campylobacter jejuni* linked to the consuption of raw milk in Italy. 2007. *Zoon Pub Health*, **54**:23-23.

12. Kist, M., Bereswill, S. Campylobacter jejuni. 2001. Contrib Microbiol, 8:150-165.

13. Butzler JP., Glupczynski Y., Goossens H. *Campylobacter* and *Helicobacter* Infections. *Current Opinions in Infectious Disease*. 1992. **5**:80-87.

14. Mishu-Allos B. *Campylobacter jejuni* infections: update on emerging issues and trends. 2001. Clinical Infectious Disease, **32**:1201-1206.

15. Crushell E., Harty S., Sharif F. *et al*. Enteric *Campylobacter*: purging its secrets? 2004. *Ped Res*, 5:3-12.

16. Tankovic, J., Dahournane, R., Lamarque, D., et al. **Detection by culture and PCR of** *Helicobacters* **and** *Campylobacters* **in digestive biopsies and stools from patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD)**. 2010. *Helicobacter*, **15**:327-327.

17. Pope JE., Krizova A., Garg AX., Thiessen-Philbrook H., Ouimet JM. *Campylobacter* reactive arthritis: a systematic review. 2007. *Semin Arthritis Rheum*, **37**:48-55.

18. Endtz, H.P., Ang, C.W., van den Braak, N., *et al*. **Molecular characterization of** *Campylobacter jejuni* **from patients with Guillain-Barre and Miller Fisher syndroms.** 2000. *J Clinic Microbiol*, **38**:2297-2301.

19. Allos BM. Association between *Campylobacter* infection and Guillain-Barré syndrome. 1997. *Journal of Infectious Disease*, **176**:S125-128.

20. **D.N., Taylor.** *Campylobacter* infections in developing countries. [book auth.] Blaser M., Tompkins L. Nachamkin I. *Campylobacter jejuni: current status and future trends.* Washinghton D.C. : American Society for Microbiology , 1992.

21. Levine, M. Immunization against bacterial diseases of the intestine. 2000. *J Ped Gastroentero Nut*, **31**:336-355.

22. Elmi A., Watson E., Sandu P., Gundogdu O. *Campylobacter jejuni* outer membrane vesicles play an important role in bacterial interactions with human intestinal epithelial cells. *Infection and Immunity*, 2012. **80**:4089-4098.

23. Helmick CG., Griffin PM., Addiss DG., Tauxe RV., Juranek DD. **Digestive diseases in the United States:** epidemiology and impact. Washington DS : US Government Printing Office, 1994. NIH publication number 94-1442.

24. Buzby JC., Allos BM., Roberts T. **The economic burden of** *Campylobacter*-associated Guillain-Barré syndrome. 1997. *J Infect Dis*, 176:S2:192-197.

25. Ternhag, A., Asikainen, T., Giesecke, J., Ekdahl. K. A meta-analysis on the effects of antiobiotic treatment on duration of symptoms caused by infection with *Campylobacter* species. 2007. *Clin Infect Dis*, **44**:696-700.

26. Luangtongkum, T., Jeon, B., Han, J., *et al.* Antibiotic resistance in *Campylobacter* emergence, transmission, and persistence. 2009. *Future Microbiol*, **4**:189-200.

27. Lindow, J.C., Poly, F., Tribble, D.R., *et al.* Caught in the act: in vivo development of macrolide resistance to Campylobacter jejuni infection. 2010. J Clin Microbiol, **48**:3012-3015.

28. Tauxe, R.V. Epidemiology of *Campylobacter jejuni* infection in the United States and other industrialized nations. 1992. *New Eng J Med*, **9**:9-19.

29. Kopecko, D.J. Regulatory considerations for *Campylobacter* vaccine development. 1997. *J Infect Dis*, **176**:S2:189-191.

30. Dorrell N., Wren B. **The second century of** *Campylobacter* **research: recent advances, new opportunities and old problems**. 2007. *Curr Opin Infect Dis*, **20:**514-518.

31. Mills DC., Gundogdu O., Elmi A. *et al.* **Increase in** *Campylobacter jejuni* **invasion of intestinal epithelial cells under low-oxygen coculture conditions that reflect the in vivo environment**. 2012. *Infect Immun*, **80**:1690-1698.

32. Bereswill S., Plikert R., Fischer A., Kuhl A., Loddenkemper C. *et al.* What you eat is what you get: Novel *Campylobacter* models in the quadrangle relationship between relationship between nutrition, obesity, microbiota and susceptibility to infection. 2011. *Eur J Micro Immunol*, **1**:237-248.

33. Bereswill S., Fischer A., Plickert R., Haag LM., Otto B., *et al.* **Novel murine infection models provide** deep insights into the "menage a trois" of *Campylobacter jejuni*, microbiota and host innate immunity. 2011. **PLOS**, 6:e20953.

34. Bell, J.A., Manning, D.D. A domestic ferret model of immunity to *Campylobacter jejuni*-induced enteric disease. 1990. *Infect Immun*, **58**:1848-1852.

35. Russel, R.G., Blaser, M.J., Sarmiento, J., Fox, J. Experimental *Campylobacter jejuni* infection in Macaca mulatta. 1989. *Infect Immun*, **57**:1438-1444.

36. Russell, R.G., O'Donnoghue, M., Blake, DC., Zulty, J., DeTolla, L.J. Early colonic damage and invasion of *Campylobacter jejuni* in experimentally challenged infact Macaca mulatta. 1993. *J Infect Dis*, 168:210-215.

37. Flanagan, R.C., Neal-McKinney, J.M., Dhillon, A.S., Miller, W.G., Konkel, M.E. **Examination of** *Campylobacter jejuni* putative adhesins leads to the identification of a new protein, designated FlpA, required for chicken colonization. 2009. Infect Immun, **77**:2399-2407.

38. Hendrixson, D.R., Dirita, V.J. Identification of *Campylobacter jejuni* genes involved in commensal colonization of the chick gastrointestinal tract. 2004. *Molec Microbiol*, **52**:471-484.

39. Smith MA., Finel M, Korolik V., Mendz GL. Characteristics of the aerobic respiratory chains of the microaerophiles *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Helicobacter pylori*. 2000. *Arch Microbiol*, **174**:1-10.

40. Imlay JA. Pathways of oxidative damage. 2003. Ann Rev Microbiol, 57:395-418.

41. Imlay JA. Cellular defenses against superoxide and hydrogen peroxide. 2008. *Ann Rev Biochem*, **77**:755-776.

42. Palyada K., Sun YK., Flint A., Butcher J., Naikare H., Stintzi A. Characterization of the oxidative stress stimulo and PerR regulon of *Campylobacter jejuni*. 2009. *BMC Genomics*, **10**:481-500.

43. van Villet, A.H., Ketley, J.M., Park, S.F., Penn, C.W. **The role of iron in** *Campylobacter* gene regulation, metabolism and oxidative stress defense. 2002. *FEMS Microbiol Rev*, 26:173-186.

44. van Vilet, A.H., Bailon, M.L., Penn, C.W., Ketley, J.M. *Campylobacter jejuni* contains two fur homologs: characterization of iron-responsive regulation of peroxide stress defense genes by the PerR repressor. 1999. *J Bacteriol*, **181**:6371-6376.

45. Wooldridge KG., Ketley J. *Campylobacter*-host cell interactions. 1997. *Tren Micriobiol*, **5**:96-102.

46. Lee A., O'Rourke J.L., Barrington P.J., Trust T.J. **Mucus colonization as a determinant of pathogenicity in intestinal infection by** *Campylobacter jejuni*: a mouse cecal model. 1986. *Infect Immun*, **51**:536-546.

47. Konkel M.E., Larson C.L., Flannagan R.C. *Campylobacter jejuni* FlpA binds fibronectin and is required for maximal host cell adherence. 2010. *J Bacteriol*, **192**:68-76.

48. Konkel M.E., Garvis S.G., Tipton S.L., Anderson D.E., Cieplak W. Identification and molecular cloning of a gene encoding fibronectin binding protein (CadF) from *Campylobacter jejuni*. 1997. *Molec Microbiol*, 24:953-963.

49. Konkel M.E., Christensen J.E., KeechA.M., Monteville M.R., Biswas D., Raphael B., Mickelson J. Secretion of virulence proteins from *Campylobacter jejuni* is dependent on a functional flagellar export apparatus. 2004, J Bacteriol, Vol. 186, pp. 3296-3303.

50. Montville M.R., Yoon J.E., Konkel M.E. **Maximal adherence and invasion of INT407 cells by** *Campylobacter jejuni* requires the CadF outer-membrane protien and microfilament re-organization. 2003. *Micro*, **149**:153-165.

51. Krause-Gruszczynska M., Rhode M., Genth H., Schmidt G., Keo T., *et al*. **Role of the small Rho GTPases Rac1 and Cdc42 in host cell invasion of** *Campylobacter jejuni*. 2008. *Cell Microbiol*, Vol. **9**:2431-2444.

52. Chen M.L., Zhongming G.E., Fox J.G., Schauer D.B. **Disruption of tight junctions and induction of proinflammatory cytokine responses in colonic epithelial cells by** *Campylobacter jejuni*. *Inf Immun*, 2006, **74**:6581-6589.

53. Kalischuk, L.D., Leggett, F., Inglis, G.D. *Campylobacter jejuni* induces transcytosis of commensal bacteria across the epithelium through M-like cells. 2010, *Gut Path*, **2**:10.1186/1757-4749-2-14.

54. Mowat A., Viney J. The anatomical basis of intestinal immunity. 1997. Immun Rev, 156:145-166.

55. Hickey TE., Bagar S., Bourgeois AL., *et al. Campylobacter jejuni* stimulated secretion of interlukin-8 by INT407 cells. 1999, Infect Immun, 67:88-93.

56. Hu L., Hickey TE. *Campylobacter jejuni induces secretion of pro-inflammatory chemokines from human intestinal epithelial cells.* 2005. *Infect Immun,* **73**:4437-4440.

57. Hu, L., Bray, M.D., Geng, Y., Kopecko, D.J. *Campylobacter jejuni-mediated induction of CC and CXC chemokines and chemokine receptors in human dendritic cells.* 2012. *Infec Immun,* **80**:2929-2939.

58. Field L.H., Underwood J.L., Payne S.M., Berry J.L. Virulence of *Campylobacter jejuni* for chicken embryos is associated with decreased bloodstream clearance and resistance to phagocytosis. 1986. *Inf Immun*, **59**:1448-1456.

59. Konkel, M.E., Hayes, S.F., Joens, A., Cieplak, W. Characteristics of the internalization and intracellular survival of *Campylobacter jejuni* in human epithelial cell cultures. 1992. *Microb Pathol*, **13**:357-370.

60. Konkel, M.E., Corwin, M.D., Joens, L.A., Cieplak, W. Factors that influence the interaction of *Campylobacter jejuni* with cultured mammalian cells. 1991. *J Med Microbiol*, **37**:30-37.

61. de Melo, M.A., Pechere, J.C. Identification of *Campylobacter jejuni* surface proteins that bind to cells in vitro. 1990. *Inf Immun*, **58**:1749-1756.

62. Abbas, A., Lichtman, A., Pillai, S. Cellular and Molecular Immunology. 7th edition. Elsevier Saunders, 2011, New Jersey, USA.

63. Plotkin, S.A. Vaccine immunology. 2008. Clinc Infect Dis, 47:401-409.

64. Galson, J., Pollard, G., Truck, AJ., Kelly, D.F. **Studying the antibody repertoire after vaccination:** pratical applications. 2014. *Trend Micro*, **35**:19-331.

65. Moser, M. Leo, O. Key concepts in immunology. 2010. Vaccine, 28:S3:C2-C13.

66. Zepp, F. Principles of vaccine design: Lessons from Nature. 2010. Vaccine, 28:S3:C14-C24.

67. Akira, S., Mematsu, S., Takeuchi, O. Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. 2006. *Cell*, **124**:783-801.

68. Uematsu, S., Akira, S. PRRs in pathogen recognition. 2006. Centr Europ J Biol, 1:299-313.

69. Akira, S. Toll receptor families: structure and function. 2004, Semmin Immunol, 16:1-2.

70. Stephenson, H.N., John, C.M., Naz, N., Gundogdu, O., Dorrell, N. *et al.* **Campylobacter jejuni lipooligosaccharide sialyation, phosphorylation and amide/ester linkage modifications fine-tune human Toll-like receptor 4 activation**. 2013. *J Biol Chem*, **288**:19661-19672.

71. Mae, A.C., Mohawk, K.I., Giles, D.K., Poly, F., Ewing, C.P., *et al.* **The polysaccharide capsule of** *Campylobacter jejuni* modulates the host immune response. 2012. *Infec Immun*, **81**:665-672.

72. Stahl, M., Ries, J., Vermeulen, J., Yang, H., Sham, HP., Crowley, S. *et al*. A novel mouse model of *Campylobacter jejuni* gastroenteritis reveals key pro-inflammatory and tissue protective roles for Toll-like receptor singalling during infection. 2014. *PLOS Pathogens*, **10**:p. e1004264.

73. Andersen-Nissen, E., Smith, K.D., Strobe, K.L., Barrett, S., Cookson, B.T., Logan, S., Aderem, A. **Evasion of Toll-like receptor 5 by flagellated bacteria**. 2005. *PNAS*, **102**:9247–9252.

74. Peek, R., Blaser, M.J. *Helicobacter pylori* and gastrointestinal tract adenocarcinomas. 2002. *Nat Rev Cancer*, **2**:28-37.

75. Woolridge, K.G., Ketley, J.M. *Campylobacter*-host cell interactions. 1997. *Trends Mircobiol*, **5**:96-102.

76. Girardin, S.E., Boneca, I., Viala, J., *et al*. **Nod2 is a general sensor of peptodoglycan through muramyl dipeptide (MDP) detection.** 2003. *J Biol Chem*, **278**:8869-8872.

77. Inohara, N., Ogura, Y., Fontalba, A., *et al*. Host recognition of bacterial muramyl dipeptide mediated through NOD2. Implications for Crohn's disease. 2003. *J Biol Chem*, **278**:8869-8872.

78. Chen, G., Shaw, M.H., Kin, Y.G., Nunez, G. **NOD-like receptors: Role in innate immunity and inflammatory disease**. 2008. *Annu Rev Patho*, **4**:365-398.

79. Poly, F., Ewing, C., Goon, S., *et al.* **Heterogeneity of a** *Campylobacter jejuni* **protein that is secreted through the flagellar filament.** 2007. *Infect Immun*, **75**:3859-3867.

80. Martinon, F., Tschopp, J. NLRs join TLRs as innate sensors of pathogens. 2005. *Trends Immunol*, **26**:447-454.

81. Schroder, K., Tschopp, J. The inflammasomes. 2012. Cell, 140:821-832.

82. Martinon, F., Burns, K., Tshopp, J. The inflammasome: a molecular platform triggering activation of inflammatory caspases and processing of pro-IL-beta. 2002. *Mol Cell*, **10**:417-426.

83. Segura, E., Villadangos, J.A. Antigen presentation by dendritic cells in vivo. 2009. *Curr Opin Immunol*, **21**:105-110.

84. Bilsborough, J., Viney, J.L. Gastrointestinal dendritic cells play a role in immunity, tolerance, and disease. 2004. *Gastroenter*, **127**:300-309.

85. Pulendran, B. Modulating the Th1/Th2 responses with microbes, dendritic cells, and pathogen recognition receptors. 2004. *Immunol Rev*, **29**:187-196.

86. Janeway, C.A., Medzhitov, R. Innate immune recognition. 2002. Annu Rev Immunol, 20:197-216.

87. Banchereau, J., Palucka, A.K. **Dendritic cells as therapeutic vaccines against cancer**. 2005. *Nat Rev Immunol*, **5**:296-306.

88. Kapsenberg, M.L. Dendritic-cell control of pathogen. 2003. Nat Rev Immunol, 3:984-993.

89. Iwaski, A., Medzhitov, R. **Toll-like receptor control of the adaptive immune responses.** 2004. *Nat Immunol*, **5**:987-995.

90. Banchereau, J., Steinman, R.M. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. 1998. *Nature*, **392**:245-252.

91. Ramachandra, L., Simmons, D., Harding, C **.MHC molecules and microbila antigen processing in phagosome.** 2009. *Curr Opin Immunol*, **21**:98-104.

92. Torres, M., Ramachandra, L., Rojas, R.E., Bobadilla, K., *et al.* **Role of phagosomes and major histocompatibility complex class II (MHC-II) compartment in MHC-II antigen processing of Mycobacterium tuberculosis in human macrophages**. 2006. *Inf Immun*, **74:**1621-1630.

93. Cox J., Coulter A. Adjuvants - a classification and review of their modes of action. 1997. *Immunol Res*, **15**:248-256.

94. Pulendran, B. Modulating vaccine responses with dendritic cells and Toll-like receptors. 2004, *Immunol*, **199:**227-250.

95. Hu, L.,Bray, MD., Osorio, M., Kopecko, D.J., *et al. Campylobacter jejuni* induces maturation and cytokine production in human dendritic cells. 2006. *Infect Immun*, **74**:2697-2705.

96. McHeyzer-Williams, L.J., McHeyzer-Williams, M.G. Antigen-specific memory B cell development. 2005. *Ann Rev Immunol*, **23**:487-513.

97. Santiago, F., Gonzalez, S.E., Degn, L.A., Pitcher, M.W., Balthasar, A., Heesters, M., Carroll, C. **Trafficking of B Cell antigens in lymph nodes.** 2011. *Ann Rev Immunol*, **29**:215-233.

98. Kurosaki, T. Genetic analysis of B cell antigen receptor signalling. 1999. Ann Rev Immunol, **17**:555-592.

99. Lanzavecchia, A. Antigen-specific interaction between T and B cells. 1985. Nature, 314:537-539.

100. *Control systems and decision making for antibody production.* **Goodnow, C., Vinuesa, C., Randall, K., Mackay, F., Brink, R.** 2010, Nat Immunol, Vol. 11, pp. 681-688.

101. Banchereau, J., Bazan, F., Blanchard, D., Briere, F., Galizzi, J., *et al*. *The CD40 antigen and its ligand*. 1994. *Ann Rev immunol*, **12**:881-922.

102. Mosmann, T.R., Coffman, R.L. **TH1 and TH2 cells: different patterns of lymphokine secretion lead to different functional properties.** 1989. *Ann Rev Immunol*, **7**:145-173.

103. Seder, R.A. Aquisition of lymphokine-producing phenotype by CD4+ T cells. 1994. *J Aller Clin Immunol*, **94**:1195-1202.

104. Issekutz, T.B., Stoltz, J.M., van der Meide, P. Lymphocyte recruitment in the delayed-type hypersensitivity. 1988. *J Immunol*, **140**:2989-2993.

105. Sanderson, C.J., O'Garra, A., Warren, D.J., Klaus, G.G. **Eosinophil differentiation factor also has B-cell growth factor activity: proposed name interleukin 4**. 1986. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*, **83**:437-440.

106. Cher, D.J., Mosmann, T.R. **Two types of murin helper T cell clones: Delayed-type hypersensitivity is mediated by Th1 clones.** 1987. *J Immunol*, **138**:3688-3694.

107. Edwards, L.A., Nistala, K., Mills, D., *et al.* **Delineation of the innate and adaptive T-cell immune outcome in the human host response to** *Campylobacter jejuni* **infection**. 2010. *PLOS ONE*, **5**: e15398.

108. Shapiro-Shelaf, M., Calame, K. **Regulation of plasma-cell development.** 2005. *Nat Rev Immunol*, **5**:230-242.

109. Avery, D.T., Deneek, K., Ma, C.S., *et al.* **B cell-intrinsic signalling through IL-21 receptor and STAT3 is required for establishing long-lived antibody responses in humans.** 2010. *J Exp Med*, **207:**155-171.

110. Hauser, A.E., Debes, G.F., Arce, C.S., *et al.* Chemotactic responsiveness toward ligands for CXCR3 and CXCR4 is regulated on plasmablasts during the time course of a memory immune response. 2002. *J Immunol*, **169**:1277-1282.

111. Mackay, F., Schneider, P. Cracking the BAFF code. 2009. Nat Rev Immunol, 9:491-502.

112. Han, S., Zheng, B., Dal Porto, J., Kelsoe, G. In situ studies of the promary immune responses. Affinity driven B cell apoptosis in germinal centers as a mechanism for maintaining self-tolerance. 2007. J Exp Med, **178**:5623-5634.

113. Manz, RA., Lohning, M., Cassese, G., Thiel, A., Radbruch, A. *Survival of long-lived plasma cells is independent of antigen.* 1998. *Int Immunol*, **10**:1703-1711.

114. Rajewsky, K. Clonal selection and learning in the antibody system. 1996. Nature, 381:751-758.

115. Roux, K.H. **Immunoglobulin structure and function as revealed by elecrton microscopy.** 1999. *Int Arch Aller Immunol*, **120**:85-95.

116. Danilova, N., Amemiya, C.T. Going adaptive: the saga of antibodies. 2009, 1168:130-155.

117. Lamm, M.E. Interaction of antigens and antibodies at mucosal surfaces. 1997. *Ann Rev Microbiol,* **51**:311-340.

118. Pavot V., Rocherau N., Genin C., Verrier B., Paul S. *New insights into mucosal vaccine development.* 2012. *Vaccine*, **30**:143-154.

119. Brandtzaeg, P., Johansen, F.E. Mucosal B cells: phenotypuc characteristics, transcriptional regulation, and homing properties. 2005. *Immunol Rev*, **206**:32-63.

120. Sonoda, E., Matsumoto, R., Hitoshi, *et al.* **Transforming growth factor beta induces IgA production and acts aditively with interleukin 5 for IgA production.** 1989. *J Exp Med*, **170**:1415-1420.

121. Snapper, C.M., Paul, W.E. Interferon-γ and B cell stimulatory factor-1 reciprocally regulate Ig isotype production. 1987. *Science*, **236**:944-947.

122. Snapper, C.M., Finkelman, F.D., Paul, W.E. **Regulation of IgG1 and IgE production by interleukin 4**. 1988. *Immunol Rev*, **102**:51-75.

123. Berneman, A., Belec, L., Fischett, VA., Bouvet, JP. **The specificity patterns of human immunoglobin G antibodies in serum differ from those in autologous secretions**. 1998. *Infect Immun*, **66**:4163-4168.

124. Kaetzal, CS., Robinson, J.K., Chintalacharuvu, K.R., Vaerman, J.P., Lamm, M.E. Interaction of antigens and antibodies at mucosal surfaces. 1997. *Ann Rev Microbiol*, **51**:311-340.

125. Cox, E., Verdonck, F., Vanrompay, D., Goddeeris, B. Adjuvants modulating mucosal immune responses or directing responses towards the mucosa. 2006. *Vet Res*, **37**:511-513.

126. Stills, H. Adjuvants and antibody production: Dispelling the myths associated with Freund's complete and other adjuvants. 2005. *ILAR J*, **46:**280-293.

127. Lavelle, E.C. Generation of improved mucosal vaccines by induction of innate immunity. 2005. *Cell Molec Life Sci*, **62**:2750-2770.

128. Holmgren, J., Czerkinsky, C. Mucosal immunity and vaccines. 2005. Nat Med, 11:S45-53.

129. Hornef, M.W., Normark, B.H., Vandewalle, A., Normark, S. Intracellular recognition of lipopolysaccharides by toll-like receptor 4 in intestinal epithelial cells. 2003. **198**:1225-1235.

130. Piggott, D.A., Eisenbarth, S.C., Xu, L., *et al.* **MyD88-dependent induction of allergic Th2 responses to intranasal antigen.** 2005. *J Clin Invest*, **115:**459-467.

131. Baldridge, J.R., McGowan, P., Evans, J.T., *et al.* **Taking a toll on human disease: Toll-like receptor 4 agonists as vaccine adjuvants and monotherapeutic agents.** 2004. *Expert Opin Biol Ther*, 4:1129-1138.

132. Schijins, V.E. Immunological concepts of vaccine adjuvant activity. 2000. *Curr Opin Immunol,* **12**:456-463.

133. Hamilton, J.A., Byrne, R., Whitty, G. Particulate adjuvants can induce macrophage survival, DNA synthesis, and a synergistic proliferation response to GM-CSF and CSF-1. 2000. *J Leukoc Biol*, 67:26-232.

134. Brewer, J.Conacher, M., Hunter, C.A., Mohrs, M., Brombacher, F., Alexander, J. Aluminum hydroxide adjuvant initiates strong antigen-specific Th2 responses in the absence of IL-4 ir IL-13 mediated signalling. 1999. *J Immunol*, **163**:6448-6454.

135. Johnson, A.G. **Molecular adjuvants and immunomodulators: new approaches to immunization**. 1994. *Clin Microbiol Res*, **7**:277-289.

136. Black, R.E., Levine, M.M., Clements, M.L., Hughes, T.P., Blaser, M.J. Experimental Campylobacter *jejuni* infection in humans. 1988. *J Infect Dis*, **157**:472-479.

137. Baquar, S., Rice, L., Lee, A.L., et al. Campylobacter jejuni enteritis. 2001. Clin Inf Dis, 33:901-905.

138. Prendergast, M.M., Tribble, S., Baqar, D., Scott, D.A., Ferris, J.A., Walker, R.I., Moran, A.P. *In vivo* phase variation and serologic response to lipooligosaccharide of *Campylobacter jejuni* in experimental human infection. 2004. *Inf Immunol*, **72**:916-922.

139. Guerry, P.C., Szymanski, C.M., Predergast, M.M., Hickey, T.E., Ewing, C.P., Pattarini, D.L., Moran, A.P. Phase variation of *Campylobacter jejuni* **81-176 lipooligosaccharide affects ganglioside mimicry and invasiveness in vitro.** 2002. *Infect Immun*, **70**:787-793.

140. Tribble, D.R., Baqar, S., Carmolli, M.P., *et al. Campylobacter jejuni* strain CG8421: a refined model for the study of Campylobacteriosis. 2009. *Clin Infect Dis*, **49:**1512-1519.

141. Kirkpatrick, B.D., Lyon, C., Porter, C.K., *et al*. Lack of homologous protection against Campylobacter jejuni CG8421 in a human challenge model. 2013. *ClD*, **57**:1106-1113.

142. Moyle, P.M., Toth, I. Self-adjuvanting lipopeptide vaccines. 2008. Med Chem, 15:506-516.

143. Pulendran, B., Ahmed, R. Immunological mechanisms of vaccination. 2011. *Nat Immunol*, **12**:509-517.

144. Monteiro, M.A., Baqar, S., Guerry, P. Capsule polysaccharide conjugate vaccine against diarrheal disease caused by *Campylobacter jejuni*. 2009. Infect Immun, **77**:1128-1136.

145. Bertolo, L., Ewing, C.P., Maue, A., Poly, F., Guerry, P., Monteiro, M.A. **The design of a capsule polysaccharide conjugate vaccine against** *Campylobacter jejuni*. 2013. *Carbohydr Res*, **25**:45-49.

146. Guerry, P., Poly, F., Riddle, M., Maue, A., Chen, Y.H., Monteiro, M.A. *Campylobacter* polysaccharide capsules: Vaccines and virulence. 2012. *Cell Infect Microbiol*, **2**:1-7.

147. Lee, L.H., Burg, E., Baqar, S., *et al*. **Evaluation of a trucated recombinant flagellin subunit vaccin against Campylobacter jejuni.** 1999. *Infect Immun*, **67**:5799-5805.

148. Pawlec, D.P., Korsak, D., Wyszynska, K., Rozynek, E., Popowski, K., Jagusztyn-Krynicka, E.K. **Genetic** diversity of the *Campylobacter* genes encoding immunodominant proteins. 2000. *FEMS Microbiol Let*, **185**:43-49.

149. Konkel, M.E., Kim, B.J., Rivera-Amill, V., Garvis, S.G. **Bacterial secreted proteins are required for the internalization of** *Campylobacter jejuni* **into cultured mammalian cells**. 1999. *Mol Microbiol*, **32**: 691-701.

150. Lucchese, G., Stufano, A., Trost, B., Kusalik, A., Kanduc, D. **Peptidology: short amino acide modules** in cell biology and immunology. 2007. *Amino Acids*, **33**:703-707.

151. Lucchese, G., Delfino, P. **Developping an anti-***Campylobacter jejuni* vaccine. 2011. *Immunopharm Immunotoxi*, **34**:385-390.

152. Radcliff, F.J., Hazell, S.L., Kolesnikow, T., Doidge, C., Lee, A. **Catalase, a novel antgen for** *Helicobacter pylori* vaccination. 1997. *Inf Immun*, **65**:4668-4674.

153. Phadnis, S.H., Parlow, M.H., Levy, M., Ilver, D., Caulikins, C.M., Connors, J.B., Dunn, B.E. **Surface localization of** *Helicobacter pylori* **urease and a heat shock protein homolog requires bacterial autolysis.** 1996. *Infect Immun*, **64**:905-912.

154. Hazell, S.L., Evans, D.J., Graham, D.Y. *Helicobacter pylori* catalase. 1991. *J Gen Microbiol*, **137:**57-61.

155. Harris, A.G., Hinds, F.E., Beckhouse, A.G., Kolesniow, T., Hazell, S.L. **Resistance to hydrogen** peroxidase in *Helicobacter pylori:* role of catalase (KatA) and Fur, and functional analysis of a novel gene product designated 'KatA-associated protein', KapA (HP0874). 2002. *Microbio*, **148**:3813-3825.

156. Harris, A.G., Wilson, J., Danon, S., Dixon, M., Donegan, K., Hazell, S. **Catalase (KatA) and KatA-associated protein (KapA) are essential to persistent colonization in the** *Helicobacter pylori* SS1 mouse **model**. 2003. *Microbiol*, 149:665-672.

157. Grant, K.A., Park, S.F. Molecular characterization of katA from Campylobacter jejuni and generation of a catalase deficient mutant of Campylobacter coli by interspecific allelic exchange. 1995. *Microbiol*, **6**:1369-1376.

158. Eng, N .Unpublished data.2014, Advanced Medical Research Institute of Canada.

159. Al Rashid, S.T. **The mode of cell division and characterization of the ftsZ gene of** *Campylobacter jejuni* **ATCC43431**. Toronto, ON, Canada : University of Toronto, 1998.

160. Blaser, M.J., Hopkins, J.A., Berkam, R.M., Vasil, M.L., Wang, WL. Identification and characterization of *Campylobacter jejuni* outer membran proteins. 1983. *Infect Immun*, **42**:276-284.

161. Louwen, R.A., Heikema, A., van Belkum, A., Ott, M., Gilbert, W., Ang, H.P., *et al.* **The sialylated lipooligosaccharide outer core in** *Campylobacter jejuni* is an important determinant for epithelial cell **invasion.** *Infect Immun*, **76**:4431-4438.

162. *Habib, I., Louwen, R., Uyttendaele, M., Houf, K., Vandenberg, O., Nieuwenhuis, E., Miller, W., van Belkum, A., De Zutter, L.* Correlation between genotypic diversity lipooligosaccharide gene locus class variation and Caco-2 cell invasion potential of *Campylobacter jejuni* isolates from chicken meat and humans: contribution to virulotypoing. 2009. *Appl Environ Microbio,* **75**:4277-4288.

163. Malvern Instruments Limited. **Dynamic light scattering: Common terms defined.** [Online] [Cited: 10 01, 2014.] http://www.biophysics.bioc.cam.ac.uk/wp-content/uploads/2011/02/DLS\_Terms\_defined\_Malvern.pdf.

164. Bronowski, C., James, C.E., Winstanley, C. Role of environmental survival in transmission of *Campylobacter jejuni*. 2014. *FEMS*, **356**:8-19.

165. Buck, G.E., Parshall, K.A., Davis, C.P. Electron microscopy of the coccoid form of *Campylobacter jejuni*. 1983. *J Clin Micro*, **18**:420-421.

166. Gabe, C.G. **Conformation-dependent antibodies target disease of protein misfolding.** 2004. *Trends Biochem Sci*, **29**:542-547.

167. Greenwood, R., Kendall, K. Selection of suitable dispersants for aqueous suspensions of zirconia and titania powders using acoustophoresis. 1999. *J Euro Cera Soc*, **19**:479-488.

168. Patil, S., Sandberg, A., Heckert, E., Self, W., Seal, S. **Protein adsorption and cellular uptake of cerium oxide nanoparticles as a function of zeta potential.** 2007. *Biomat*, **28**:4600-4607.

169. Salgin, S., Takac, S., Ozdamar, H.T. **Streaming potential measurements of polyethersulfone ultrafiltration membranes to determine salt effects on membrane zeta potential**. 2006. *J Membr Sci*, **278**:251-260.

170. Jang, KS., Sweredoski, M.J., Graham, R. Hess, S., Clemons, W.M. **Comprehensive proteomic profiling of outer membrane vesicles from** *Campylobacter jejuni*. 2014. *J Proteom*, **98**:90-98.

171. Elmi, A., Watson, E., Sandu, P. *et al. Campylobacter jejuni* outer membrane vesicles play an important role in bacterial interactions with human epithelial cells. 2012. *Infect Immun*, **80**:4089-4098.

172. Kuehn, M.J., Kesty, N.C. Bacterial outer membrane vesicles and the host-pathogen interactions. 2005. *Genes Dev*, **19**:2645-2655.

173. Mashburn-Warren, L., McLean, R.J., Whiteley, M. Gram-negative outer membrane vesicles: beyond the cell surface. 2008. *Geobio*, 6:214-219.

174. Holmes, K.L., Lantz, L.M., Russ, W. **Conjugation of fluorochromes to monoclonal antibodies.** *Current Protocols in Cytometry*. Hoboken : John Wiley and Sons Inc., 1997, 4.4.2.

175. Acevedo, R., Callico, A., del Campo, J., *et al.* Intranasal administration of proteoliposome-derived cochleates from *Vibrio cholerae* **01** induce mucosal and systemic immune responses in mice. 2009. **49**:309-315.

176. Nossal, G.J.V., Karvelas, M. Soluble antigen abrogates the appearance of anti-protien IgG1forming cell precursors during primary immunization. 1990. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*, 87:1615-1619.

177. Mata-Haro, V., Cekic, C., Matrin, M., Chilton, P.M., Casella, C.R., Mitchell, T.C. **The vaccine adjuvant** monophosphoryl lipid A as a **TRIF-biased agonist of TLR4.** 2007. *Science*, **316**:1628-1632.

178. Sosman, J.A., Sondak, V.K. Melacine: an allogenic melanoma tumour cell lysate vaccine. 2003. *Exp Rev Vacc*, **2**:353-368.

179. Wheeler, A.W., Marshall, J.S., Ulrich, J.T. A Th1-inducing adjuvant, MPL, enhances antibody profiles in experimental animals suggesting it has the potential to improve the efficacy of allergy vaccines. 2001. *Int Arch Allerg Immunolg*, **126**:135-139.

180. Mckee, A.S., Munks, M.W., Marrack, P. How do adjuvants work? Important Considerations for new generation adjuvants. 2007. *Immun*, **27**:687-690.

181. Brewer, J., Conacher, M., Satoskar, A., Bluethmann, H., Alexander, J. Interleukin-4-deficient mice, alum not only generates T helper 1 responses equivalent to Freund's complete adjuvant, but continues to induce T helper 2 cytokine production. 2005. *Eur J Immunol*, **26**:2062-2069.

182. Ansel, K.M. Djuretic, I., Tanasa, B. Rao, A. **Regulation of Th2 differentiation and II4 locus** accessibility. 2006. *Ann Rev Immunol*, **24**:607-656.

183. Kagami, S., Nakajima, H., Suto, A., *et al.* **STAT5a regulates T helper cell differntiation by several distinct mechanisms**. 2001. *Blood*, **97**:2358-2365.

184. Yamane, H., Zhu, J., Paul, W.E. Independent roles for IL-2 and GATA-3 in stimulating naive CD4+ T cells to generate a Th2-inducing cytokine environment. 2005. *J Exp Med*, **202**:793-804.

185. Paul, W.E. What determines Th2 differentiation, in vitro and in vivo? 2010. *Immunol Cell Bio* 88:236-239.

186. Tribble, D.R., Baqar, S., Scott, D.A., *et al.* **Assessment of the duration of protection in** *Campylobacter jejuni* experimental infection in humans. 2010. *Infect Immun*, **78**:1750-1759.

187. Gillespie, S.H., Gosling, R.D., Charalambous, B.M. A re-iterative method for calculating the early bactericidal activity of anti-tuberculosis drugs. 2002. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, **166**:31-35.

188. Mueller-Eberhard, H.J. **The membrane attack complex of complement**. 1986. *Ann Rev Immunol* **4**:503-528.

189. Parkhill, J., Wren, B.W., Mungall,K., *et al.* **The genome sequence of the foodborne pathogen Campylobacter jejuni reveals hypervariable sequences.** 2000. *Nature*, **403**:665-668.

190. Potempa, M., Potempa, J. Protease-dependent mechanisms of complement evasion by bacterial pathogens. 2012. *Biol Chem*, **393**:873-888.

191. Burton, D.R., Parren, P.W. Vaccines and the induction of functional antibodies: time to look beyond the molecules of natural infection? 2000. *Nat Med*, **6**:123-125.

192. Mertz, B., Hendriksen, C., Jiskootm W., Kersten, G. **Reduction of animal use in human vaccine** quality control: opportunities and problems. 2002. *Vaccine*, **20**:2411-2430.

193. Everest, P.H., Goossens, H., Butzler, P., Lloyd, D., Knutton, S., Ketley, M., Williams, P.H. Differentiated Caco-2 cells are a model for enteric invasion by *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli.* 1992. *J Med Microbiol*, **37**:319-325.

194. Konkel, M.E., Joens, L.A. Adhesion and invasion of HEp-2 cells by *Campylobacter spp.* 1989. *Infect Imm*, **57**:2984-2990.

195. Russell, R.G., Blake, D.C. **Cell association and invasion of Caco-2 cells by** *Campylobacter jejuni*. 1994. *Infect Immun*, **62**:3773-3779.

196. Wassenaar, T.M., Bleumink-Pluym, M.C., van der Zeijst, A.M. Inactivation of *Campylobacter jejuni* flagellin genes by homologous recombination demonstrates that flaA but not flaB is required for invasion. 1991. *EMBO J*, **10**:2055-2061.

197. Yao, R.J., Burr, D.H., Doig, P., Trust, T.J. Niu, H.Y., Guerry, P. Isolation of motile and nonmotile insertional mutatants of *Campylobacter jejuni* - role of motility in adherence and invasion of eukaryotic cells. 1994. *Mol Microbiol*, **14**:883-893.

198. Pinto, M., Robine-Leon, S., Appay, M. Enterocyte-like differentiation and polarization of the human carcinoma cell line Caco-2 in culture. 1983. *Biol Cell*, **47**:323-330.

199. Bras, A.M., Ketley, J.M. Transcellular translocation of *Campylobacter jejuni* across human polarised epithelial monolayers. 1999. *FEMS Microbiol Lett*, **179**:209-215.

200. Frills, LM., Pin, C., Pearson, B.M., Wells, J. In vitro cell culture methods for investigating Campylobacter invasion mechanisms. 2005. *J Microbiol Meth*, **61**:145-160.

201. Carroll, M.C. The role of complement and complement receptors in induction and regulation of immunity. 1998. *Annu Rev Immuno*, **16:**545-568.

202. Reid, K., Porter, R. The proteolytic activation systems of complement. 1981. *Rev Biochem*, **50**:433-464.

203. Cooper, N.R. The classical complement pathway: activation and regulation of the first complement component. 1985. *Adv Immunnol*, **37**:151-216.

204. Degn, S.E., Thiel, S. Humoral pattern recognition and the complement system. 2013. *Scann J Immunol*, **78**:181-193.

205. Budayova-Spano, M., Lacroix, M., Thielens, N., *et al.* **The crystal structute of the zymogen catalytic domain of complement protease C1r reveals that a destructive mechanical stress is required to trigger activation of the C1 complex.** 2002. *EMBO J*, **21**:231-239.

206. Janssen, B.J., Huizinga, E.G., Raaijmakers, H.C. *et al. Structures of complement components of C3 provide insights into the function and evolution of immunity*. 2005. *Nature*, **437**:505-511.

207. Alsenz, J., Becherer, J., Nilsson, B., Lambris, J. **Structural and functional analysis of C3 using monoclonal antibodies**. 1990. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol*, **153**:235-243.

208. Gotze, O., Mueller-Eberhard, H.J. **The C3-activator system: an alternate pathway of complement activation**. 1971. *J Exp Med*, **134**:90-108.

209. Kirkitadze, M.D., Barlow, P.N. Structure and flexibility of the multiple domain proteins that regulate complement activation. 2001. *Immunol Rev*, **180**:146-161.

210. Pangburn, M.K., Ferreira, V.P., Cortes, C. Discrimination between host and pathogens by the complement system. 2008. *Vaccine*, 26:S8:115-121.

211. Brouwer, N., Dolman, K.M., van Zwieten, R., *et al.* Mannan-binding lectint (MBL)-mediated opsonization enhanced by the alternative pathway amplification loop. 2006. *Mol Immunol*, **43**:2051-2060.

212. Harboe, M., Ulvund, G., Vien, L., Fung, M., Mollnes, T.E. **The quantitative role of alternative pathway amplification in classical pathway induced terminal complement activation**. 2004. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 138:439-446.

213. Dodds, A.W. *Which came first; the lectin/classical pathway or the alternative pathway of complement?* 2002. *Immunobiology*, **205:**340-354.

214. Fujita, T. Evolution of the lectin-complement pathway and its role in innate immunity. 2002. *Nat Rev Immunol*,**2**:346-353.

215. Heja, D., Kociss, A., Dobo, J., *et al.* **Revise mechanism of complement lectin-pathway activation revealing the role of serine protease MASP-1 as the exclusive activator of MASP-2**. 2012. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*, **109:**10498-10503.

### **<u>APPENDIX 1: The Complement System</u>**

The complement system is a humoral proteolytic cascade based defense mechanism and is a crucial component of the innate immune response against pathogens. It is comprised of over 25 plasma proteins and cell surface receptors (201). Together, they function in concert to opsonise microbes, to promote the recruitment of phagocytes to the site of infection, and in some cases to directly kill the microbes via lysis (202). There are three main ways to activate the complement system: through antibodies (classical pathway), through large multimeric lectins (lectin pathway), and through a low-level inherent activation (alternative pathway) (Figure 3). All three pathways merge at the level of cleavage of the plasma protein C3 which leads to the formation of active fragments and the initiation of a proteolytic cascade involving other complement proteins (190). The classical pathway of complement activation can be initiated once an antibody has bound to the surface of a microbe. The plasma protein C1q binds to IgG and IgM but not IgA, IgD or IgE (203). C1q consists of 6 identical subunits with globular heads capable of binding the Fc region on Ig. Each C1q must simultaneously bind at least 2 Fc regions in order to become active. Thus, only multivalent antigens with multiple antibodies bound can activate complement. C1q lacks enzymatic activity but is associated with two serine protease proenzymes C1r and C1s (204). C1q will bind to the C<sub>H</sub>2 domain of IgG, or the C<sub>H</sub>3 domain of IgM, antibodies resulting in a conformational change leading to the autoactivation of C1r which cleaves and activates C1s (205). C4 is also cleaved by C1s into C4a and C4b exposing a binding site for C2. Upon binding, C2 is cleaved into C2a and C2b while C2a remains bound to C4 and functions to recruit and cleave C3 into C3a and C3b. C3b contains a highly reactive thioester domain that is exposed following clevage (206). The thioester domain can form covalent attachments, to the amino or hydroxyl groups of surface proteins or polysaccharides, but reaction with water prevents attachment from occurring far from the site of activation (207). The

association of the C4b2a complex with C3b forms a C5 convertase which initiates the terminal pathway.

The alternative pathway of activation proceeds without antibody binding and begins when the C3 complement protein is cleaved by the C3 convertase yielding two fragments: C3a and C3b. Low rates of cleavage occurs continuously in plasma resulting in constitutive activity and C3 binds to pathogen or host cell surfaces (208). The host, however, expresses several regulators, expressed predominantly on the cell surface, that suppress complement activation against self by downregulating central proteolytic activity (209). This pathway has been called 'reverse-recognition' as it is based on the recognition of host-associated molecular patterns (HAMPs) rather than PAMPS. As microbes lack the HAMP regulators, predominantly sialic acid, the complement pathways proceeds (210). A second plasma protein (factor B) can bind to C3b once it has attached to a cell surface. Factor B is then cleaved by a plasma serine protease (factor D) resulting in the C3bBb complex which functions as the alternative pathway C3 convertase. C3 convertase increases the cleavage and activation of C3 molecules amplifying the complement cascade (211; 212).



**Figure A1**. The steps of complement activation by the alternative, classical, or lectin pathways. Adapted from Abbas, Lichtman and Pillai (2012) (62)

The third pathway to complement activation, although similar to the classical pathway, is evolutionarily more ancient (213). It is triggered by mannose-binding lectin (MBL) and ficolins, plasma proteins which recognizes terminal mannose residues on microbial glycoproteins and glycolipids (214). Once MBL has bound to a microbe, two zymogens mannan-binding lectin associated serine protease (MASP1 and MASP2) are activated. MASP-2 cleaves both C4 and C2 while MASP-1 plays a role in transactivating MASP-2 (215). This initiates the same downstream proteolytic steps as in the classical and alternative pathways resulting in the cleavage of C5 into C5a and C5b by C5 convertase. C5b initiates the terminal pathway which leads to the assembly of the terminal components, C5,C6,C7,C8, and C9, which from the membrane attack complex (MAC). The MAC is a lipophilic complex which inserts itself in the bacterial cell membrane forming pores and ultimately residing in cell lysis (188). The complement system, however, does not play a major role in C. jejuni infection as rates of bacteraemia are very low and detected in < 1% of patients occurring most often in patients with a severely compromised immune system (15)

#### APPENDIX II: COLLABORATOR METHODOLODIES

## KatA expression and purification

Overexpression of KatA (Fig. 1) was performed in E. coli BL21 cells using the protein expression vector pGST as described previously [26]. Briefly, the C. jejuni NCTC 11168 katA gene (Fig. 1) was PCR amplified using Pfx (Invitrogen, Burlington, ON) high fidelity polymerase and the KatA\_NcoI (GCCATGGCTATGAAAAAATTGACTAACGA) and KatA\_NotI (GCGGCCGCTTAGTTTGCCACCAAAAGTGG) primers (restriction site outlined in bold). The amplified gene was cloned into the protein overexpression vector pGST using *NcoI* and NotI restriction sites, to give rise to pGST+KatA construct which was transformed into E. *coli* BL21 cells. Sequencing was performed to confirm the absence of polymerase-introduced mutations in the katA gene. Once E. coli was cultured as mentioned above, the cells were then pelleted, resuspended in 100 mM NaCl, 20 mM Tris pH 7.3 buffer containing protease inhibitor (Roche, Mississauga, ON), and the cell membranes were disrupted by sonication. Cell membranes and debris were removed by centrifugation at 13000 rpm for 15 min. The cell lysate containing the GST-KatA fusion protein was then affinity purified using glutathione sepharose 4B resin according to the manufacturer specifications (GE Healthcare, Baie d'Urfe, QC). Cleavage of the GST tag from KatA was performed on the resin by addition of TEV protease [26] and gentle shaking overnight at 4°C. The KatA protein was washed from the resin the following day using 100 mM NaCl, 20 mM Tris pH 7.3 buffer and concentrated using 30 kDa cut-off centrifugal filter unit (EMD Millipore, MA, USA). Concentrated KatA protein was further purified by size exclusion chromatography using the AKTA fast protein liquid chromatography (FPLC) system equipped with a Superdex-200 column (GE Healthcare) using

100 mM NaCl, 20 mM Tris pH 7.3 buffer as the filtration buffer and a flow rate of 0.4 mL/min. Purified protein was further concentrated to 2 mg/mL and stored at -20°C until use.

#### Purification of KatA Antibodies from Sera

Approximately 2.5 mg of KatA protein was used for antibody production by Immuno-Precise Antibodies Limited (Victoria, BC, Canada) using 2 rabbits. For each rabbit, a pre-immune bleed was performed prior to the primary immunization with the KatA antigen (0.5mg) using complete Freund's antigen. Over the course of the project, each rabbit received 3 additional boosts with KatA antigen (0.5 mg) using incomplete Freund's antigen followed by a terminal bleed and serum collection. Anti-KatA antiserum was stored at 20°C until use.

# Immunoprecipitation of KatA

Immunoprecipitation experiments using wild-type C. jejuni,  $\Delta Cj1386$ ,  $\Delta katA$ , and  $\Delta Cj1386$  $\Delta Cj1386$  strains were performed using protein A-conjugated Dynabeads (Invitrogen). Strains were grown to mid-log phase (OD600 of 0.2) in MEM under microaerophilic conditions at 37°C prior to harvesting total soluble pro teins. Bacterial strains were spun at 6,000 rpm for 10 min, resuspended in 1ml PBS containing a bacterial protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma) and 10 mg/ml lysozyme, and incubated on ice for 15 min. Cells were briefly sonicated once (five 5 pulses), followed by centrifugation at 13,000 rpm for 5 min at 4°C to remove membranes and cellular debris. Two hundred and fifty micrograms of anti-KatA antiserum diluted in 200 µl PBS-0.02% Tween 20 was incubated with 50 µl of Dynabeads for 1 h with end-over-end rotation at room temperature. The anti-KatA-bound Dynabeads were washed once with 500 µl PBS-0.02% Tween 20 before addition of 5 mg of protein lysate. The bead-lysate mixture was incubated overnight at 4°C with end-over-end rotation. The beads were washed 3 times with 200 µl of ice-chilled PBS, and KatA was eluted from the beads twice in 100 µl soft-elution buffer (50 mM Tris, pH 8.0, 0.2% SDS, 0.1% Tween 20) with end-over-end rotation for 7 min at room temperature. Immunoprecipitation of KatA from each strain was visualized by SDS-PAGE run on a 10% denaturing gel followed by Coomassie blue staining. KatA protein concentration was determined for each immunoprecipitated sample by densitometry of the SDS-PAGE gel using Adobe Photo shop software (version 10.0). KatA protein content was normalized, and equal amounts of KatA (250 ng) from the wild-type NCTC11168,  $\Delta$ Cj1386, and  $\Delta$ Cj1386  $\Delta$ Cj1386 strains were assayed for catalase activity using the method described above. Immunoprecipitate from the  $\Delta$ KatA strain was used as a negative control for the catalase activity assay. Catalase activity assays were performed in quadruplicate, and statistical significance was determined using the Student t-test. P values of <0.05 were considered significant.

### **Proteomics**

Proteomics analysis was performed at the OHRI Proteomics Core Facility (Ottawa, Canada).

# **Protein Digest**

Proteins were digested in-gel using trypsin (Promega) according to the method of Shevchenko (Nat Protocols 2006; 1(6):2856-60). The resulting peptide extracts were concentrated by vacufuge (Eppendorf) and resuspended in 0.1% formic acid (Fisher).

#### LC-MS/MS

Peptides were analyzed by LC-MS/MS (liquid chromatography – tandem mass spectrometry) on a system comprised of an UltiMate 3000 RSLC nano HPLC, LTQ Orbitrap XL hybrid mass spectrometer and nanospray ionization source (Thermo Scientific). The system was controlled by Xcalibur software version 2.0.7 (Thermo Scientific). Peptides were loaded by autosampler onto a C18 CapTrap (Michrom) in 3% acetonitrile, 0.1% formic acid at a flow rate of 15 microlitres per minute for 5 minutes. Peptides were eluted over a 60 minute gradient of 3% -45% acetonitrile at a flow rate of 300 nanolitres per minute through a 10-cm long column with integrated emitter tip (Picofrit PF360-75-15-N-5 from New Objective packed with Zorbax SB-C18, 5 micron from Agilent), and nanosprayed into the mass spectrometer. Nanoflow HPLC solvents contained 0.1% formic acid and 5% DMSO (Nature Methods 2013; 10(10):989). MS scans were acquired in FTMS mode at a resolution setting of 60,000. MS<sup>2</sup> scans were acquired in ion trap CID mode using data-dependent acquisition of the top 5 ions from each MS scan.

### **Protein Identification Using Mascot**

MASCOT software version 2.4 (Matrix Science, UK) was used to infer peptide and protein identities from the mass spectra. The observed MS/MS spectra were matched against *C. jejuni* sequences from SwissProt version 2013\_05 and also against a database of common contaminants. Mass tolerance parameters were MS  $\pm 10$  ppm and MS/MS  $\pm 0.6$  Da. Enzyme specificity was set to 'Trypsin' with <=2 miscuts. Oxidation of methionine, protein N-terminal acetylation, and conversion of glutamine to pyro-glutamate were allowed as variable modifications. Carbamidomethylation of cysteine was set as a fixed modification.

# APPENDIX III: PERMISSION TO USE COPYRIGHTED MATERIALS

# Dear Barbara Rickaby

We hereby grant you permission to reproduce the material detailed below at no charge **in your thesis, in print and on LUZoneUL** subject to the following conditions:

- 1. If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies.
- 2. Suitable acknowledgment to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"This article was published in Publication title, Vol number, Author(s), Title of article, Page Nos, Copyright Elsevier (or appropriate Society name) (Year)."

- 3. Your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form.
- 4. Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose for which permission is hereby given.
- 5. This permission is granted for non-exclusive world **English** rights only. For other languages please reapply separately for each one required. Permission excludes use in an electronic form other than as specified above. Should you have a specific electronic project in mind please reapply for permission.
- 6. This includes permission for the Library and Archives of Canada to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission.

Yours sincerely



Jennifer Jones Permissions Specialist

Elsevier Limited, a company registered in England and Wales with company number 1982084, whose registered office is The Boulevard, Langford Lane, Kidlington, Oxford, OX5 1GB, United Kingdom.